### New insights in contact allergy and drug delivery

A study of formulation effects and hapten targets in skin using two-photon fluorescence microscopy

CARL SIMONSSON



DOCTORAL THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry

#### New insights in contact allergy and drug delivery

A study of formulation effects and hapten targets in skin using two-photon fluorescence microscopy

CARL SIMONSSON

© Carl Simonsson ISBN 978-91-628-8384-3 Available online at: https:\hdl.handle.net\2077\27832

Department of Chemistry University of Gothenburg SE-412 96 Gothenburg Sweden

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden, 2011

## Abstract

The skin is a remarkable barrier, protecting us from invasion of e.g. harmful microorganisms and UV-radiation. However, the skin is not adopted to resist repeated exposure to the multitude of xenobiotics introduced into modern society. Some of these chemicals are skin sensitizers, and exposure can lead to the development of contact allergy. Contact allergy has significant social and economic consequences, both for the individual and for society. It is therefore important to prevent sensitization. The skin also constitutes a potential route for administration of drugs, and much effort is put into the development of cutaneous and transdermal drug delivery systems.

The work of this thesis aims to improve the understanding of processes related to the interactions between the skin and topically applied compounds, i.e. drugs and skin sensitizers. Specifically, two-photon microscopy has been used to study the cutaneous absorption and distribution of model drugs and a series of model skin sensitizers.

Improved cutaneous absorption was demonstrated using formulations composed of lipid cubic phases. The work also showed elevated sensitization potency of haptens depending on delivery vehicles. Putative mechanistic explanations for the observed effects have been proposed. Specifically, phthalates were shown to increase the sensitization potency of isothiocyanates. The phthalate-induced effect could be linked to a PSU-targeted delivery of the haptens into the skin. It could also be shown that vehicles alter hapten reactivity to *stratum corneum* proteins leading to variations in sensitization potency. Moreover, hapten protein targets in skin have been identified using caged fluorescent model hapten. Specifically, basal cell keratinocytes and the keratins were identified as specific hapten targets in the skin.

In conclusion, the work presented in this thesis contributes to the general understanding of the mechanisms involved in the cutaneous absorption of topically applied drugs and skin sensitizers. It also demonstrates the capabilities of using TPM when investigating the interactions between the skin and xenobiotics.

**Keywords:** allergic contact dermatitis, bromobimane, confocal microscopy, contact allergy, cubic phases, cutaneous absorption, dermatochemistry, ethosomes, FITC, hair-follicle, hapten, isothiocyanate, lipid vesicles, local lymph node assay, nano, percutaneous absorption, pilosebaceous unit, RBITC, two-photon microscopy, vehicle effects.

This thesis is based on the work presented in the following publications and manuscripts. The publications are reprinted with the permission from the publishers.

- Paper I. Lipid cubic phases in topical drug delivery: Visualization of skin distribution using two-photon microscopy. Bender, J., Simonsson, C., Smedh, M., Engström, S., and Ericson, M.B., *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2008. 129: 163-169.
- Paper II. Accumulation of FITC near stratum corneum-visualizing epidermal distribution of a strong sensitizer using two-photon microscopy. Samuelsson, K., Simonsson, C., Jonsson, C.A., Westman, G., Ericson, M.B., and Karlberg, A.T., Contact Dermatitis, 2009. 61: 91-100.
- Paper III. A study of the enhanced sensitizing capacity of a contact allergen in lipid vesicle formulations. Simonsson, C., Madsen, J.T., Graneli, A., Andersen, K.E., Karlberg, A.-T., Jonsson, C.A., and Ericson, M.B., *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 2011. 252: 221-227.
- Paper IV. Caged fluorescent haptens reveal the generation of cryptic epitopes in allergic contact dermatitis. Simonsson, C., Andersson, S.I., Stenfeldt, A.L., Bergström, J., Bauer, B., Jonsson, C.A., Ericson, M.B., and Broo, K.S., Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2011. 131: 1486-1493.
- Paper V.The pilosebaceous unit a phthalate-induced highway to skin sensitization.<br/>Simonsson, C., Stenfeldt, A.L., Karlberg, A.-T., Ericson, M.B., Jonsson, C.A<br/>Submitted for publication.

### Publications not included in the thesis

Two photon microscopy for studies of xenobiotics in human skin Simonsson, C., Smedh, M., Jonsson, C., Karlberg, A.T., and Ericson, M.B., *Optics in Life Science, Proceedings of SPIE*, 2007, 6633.

Two-photon laser-scanning fluorescence microscopy applied for studies of human skin. Ericson, M.B., Simonsson, C., Guldbrand, S., Ljungblad, C., Paoli, J., and Smedh, M., *Journal of Biophotonics*, 2008. **1**: 320-330.

Temporal imaging chamber (TIC) for en face imaging of epidermal absorption in vitro. Simonsson, C., Smedh, M., Jonsson, C., and Ericson, M.B., *Progress in Biomedical Optics and Imaging, Proceedings of SPIE,* 2009, 7367.

Point spread function measured in human skin using two-photon fluorescence microscopy. Guldbrand, S., Simonsson, C., Smedh, M., and Ericson, M.B., *Progress in Biomedical Optics and Imaging, Proceedings of SPIE,* 2009, 7367.

Two-photon fluorescence correlation microscopy combined with measurements of point spread function; investigations made in human skin. Guldbrand, S., Simonsson, C., Goksör, M., Smedh, M., and Ericson, M.B., *Optics Express*, 2010. **18**: 15289-15302.

Ethosome formulations of known contact allergens can increase their sensitizing capacity. Madsen, J.T., Vogel, S., Karlberg, A.T., Simonsson, C., Johansen, J.D., and Andersen, K.E., *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 2010. **90**: 374-8.

Ethosome formulation of contact allergens may enhance patch test reactions in patients. Madsen, J.T., Vogel, S., Karlberg, A.-T., Simonsson, C., Johansen, J.D., and Andersen, K.E., *Contact Dermatitis*, 2010. **63**: 209-214.

Modification and expulsion of keratins by human epidermal keratinocytes upon hapten exposure in vitro. Bauer, B., Andersson, S.I., Stenfeldt, A.L., Simonsson, C., Bergström, J., Ericson, M.B., Jonsson, C.A., and Broo, K.S., *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2011. **24**: 737-743.

The author has made the following contribution to the included publications.

- Paper I.Contributed to the design of the study, performing the *in vitro* skin<br/>penetration and imaging experiments, the interpretation of the results and in<br/>writing the manuscript.
- Paper II.Contributed to the formulation of the research problem and the design of the<br/>study; performed the *in vitro* skin penetration and imaging experiments;<br/>contributed to the interpretation of the results and in writing the manuscript.
- Paper III. Major contribution to the formulation of the research problem and to the design of the study; performed the experiments, major contribution in the interpretation of the results and wrote the manuscript. Corresponding author.
- **Paper IV.** Contributed to the formulation of the research problem; major contribution in the design of the study; performed the LLNA, the *in vitro* skin penetration experiments, the immunohistochemistry and the imaging experiments; major contribution in the interpretation of the results and in writing the manuscript.
- Paper V. Formulated the research problem and designed the study; major contribution in performing the experiments and the interpretation of the results; wrote the manuscript. Corresponding author.

# **Abbreviations and Symbols**

ACD	Allergic contact dermatitis
A:DBP	Acetone:dibutylphthalate
C54	Cysteine 54
DBP	Dibutyl phthalate
dBBr	Dibromobimane
Da	Dalton
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
dpm	Disintegrations per minute
Et:W	Ethanol:water
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
К5	Keratin 5
K14	Keratin 14
LLNA	Local lymph node assay
LYVE	Lymphatic vessel endothelial hyaluronan receptor
mBBr	Monobromobimane
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MO	Monoolein
NA	Numerical aperture
POPC	1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine
PSU	Pilosebaceous unit
PT	Phytantriol
RBITC	Rhodamine B isothiocyanate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SI	Stimulation index
SRB	Sulforhodamine B
TPM	Two-photon microscopy
C	Concentration
D	Diffusion constant
δ	Two-photon absorption cross-section
f <sub>n</sub>	Pulse repetition rate
.р Т	Flux
ĸ	Partition coefficient
Kρ	Permeability coefficient
	Diffusion path-length
λ	Wavelength

Time-average power  $\mathsf{P}_{\mathsf{ave}}$ 

Wavelength

Pulse length τ

### Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The Skin – Anatomy and Function	3
	<ul> <li>2.1 Epidermis</li> <li>2.1.1 Cellular composition and structure</li> <li>2.1.2 Viable epidermis</li> <li>2.1.3 Stratum corneum</li> <li>2.1.4 Keratins</li> </ul>	4 4 5 6 7
	2.2 Dermis	7
	2.3 Skin appendages	7
3	Contact Allergy	9
	3.1 Pathogenesis 3.1.1 Sensitization 3.1.2 Elicitation	9 9 10
	3.2 Haptens 3.2.1 Isothiocyanates 3.2.2 Bromobimanes	12 12 13
	<ul> <li>3.3 Predicting sensitization potency</li> <li>3.3.1 The Local Lymph Node Assay</li> <li>3.3.2 Alternative non-animal based assays</li> </ul>	15 15 17
4	Cutaneous absorption	19
	4.1 Skin penetration pathways	19
	4.2 Factors affecting the absorption of topically applied compounds	21
	4.3 Fick's law of diffusion	22
	<ul> <li>4.4 Topical delivery systems</li> <li>4.4.1 Cutaneous penetration enhancers</li> <li>4.4.2 Lipid based formulations</li> <li>4.4.3 Bicontinuous cubic phases</li> <li>4.4.4 Lipid vesicles</li> </ul>	22 23 24 24 25
	4.5 Methods to study cutaneous and percutaneous absorption of topically applied compounds	ל 26
5	Laser Scanning Microscopy	29
	5.1 Laser scanning confocal microscopy	29
	<ul> <li>5.2 Laser scanning two-photon microscopy</li> <li>5.2.1 Two-photon excitation</li> <li>5.2.2 Optical sectioning</li> </ul>	30 30 33

6	Aims and objectives	35
7	Summary of Papers	36
	7.1 Lipid cubic phases in topical drug delivery: Visualization of skin distribution usin two-photon microscopy (Paper I)	g 36
	7.2 Accumulation of FITC near stratum corneum – visualizing epidermal distribution of a strong sensitizer using two-photon microscopy (Paper II)	ı 38
	7.3 A study of the enhanced sensitizing capacity of a contact allergen in lipid vesicle formulations (Paper III)	: 39
	7.4 Caged Fluorescent Haptens Reveal the Generation of Cryptic Epitopes in Allergic Contact Dermatitis (Paper IV)	: 43
	7.5 The pilosebaceous unit – a phthalate-induced highway to skin sensitization (Paper V)	46
8	General Discussion	52
	8.1 New insights in drug delivery	52
	<ul> <li>8.2 New insights in contact allergy</li> <li>8.2.1 Vehicle effects on the sensitization potency of haptens</li> <li>8.2.2 Identification of hapten targets</li> </ul>	53 53 55
	8.3 The choice of skin model	56
	8.4 Two-photon microscopy of the skin, benefits and limitations	56
	8.5 Conclusions and future outlooks	58
9	Acknowledgements	60
10	References	62

### **1** Introduction

All living organisms have an outer protective surface separating endogenous and exogenous compartments. The human skin, a keratinized stratified squamous epithelium, incorporates a multitude of vital physical and biological functions. One of the key functions of the skin is to protect the living interior compartments of the body from invasion by pathogenic microorganisms and harmful UV-radiation [1].

However, the barrier is not foolproof, e.g. it is not evolutionary fit to handle the repeated exposures to many of the now frequently occurring more or less toxic environmental xenobiotics, which have been introduced into modern society. Chemicals are constantly invading the skin and the body. One of the consequences thereof has been an increase in the manifestation of contact allergy, today affecting approximately 15-20 % of the population in the western world [2]. Preventive work is important as contact allergy often has significant socio-economic consequences, both for the individual and society; e.g. numerous cases of contact allergy are work-related and often lead to long sick-leaves and sometimes oblige the patient to change profession.

The efforts to reduce the prevalence of contact allergy include an increase of the understanding of the mechanisms involved in the development of the disease, e.g. skin absorption, chemical reactivity, biotransformations and immunological mechanisms. Much has been learnt, but several key steps in the pathogenesis are still more or less shrouded in mystery. The preventive work also includes the development of efficient and reliable tools for identification of allergens, removal and replacement of identified allergenic compounds in consumer products and development of 'safe' formulations, minimizing the absorption and accumulations of potentially harmful components in 'non-target' tissue.

However, on the other side is the pharmaceutical industry, struggling with the low permeability of the skin, which makes epicutaneous delivery of drugs especially cumbersome. Nonetheless it is often an attractive alternative to oral or intravenous administration and much effort is being made in the development of more effective formulations, optimizing the absorption profile depending on the target tissue.

This thesis includes five studies, dealing with the cutaneous uptake and distribution of topically applied compounds. One study with the focus on drug delivery, specifically the use of liquid crystalline bicontinuous cubic phases in epicutaneous formulations (Paper I), and four studies investigating different aspects regarding the cutaneous absorption and distribution of skin sensitizers, e.g. factors affecting the uptake and sensitization potency of haptens and hapten targets in the skin (Paper II-V). Specifically, this thesis highlights some of the advantages using TPM when investigating the interactions between the skin and xenobiotics.

The thesis was performed within the Centre for Skin Research Gothenburg (SkinReGU), which is a collaboration between research groups at the Faculty of Science and the Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg and Chalmers University of Technology. It comprises research groups within the fields of dermatochemistry, dermatology, medicinal chemistry, nanotechnology, biophysics, physical chemistry, organic chemistry, surface chemistry, odontology, and pharmaceutics. The center provides a unique interdisciplinary platform for skin related research.

### 2 The Skin – Anatomy and Function

The skin, or the integumentary system (from Latin *tegere* 'to cover'), is our largest organ. It has a surface area between 1.2-2.2 m<sup>2</sup>, an average thickness of 1.5-4 mm and makes up approximately 7% of the total body weigh in the average adult man [3]. The skin can be divided into two major compartments; the epidermis, an avascular stratified squamous epithelium mainly composed of terminally differentiating keratinocytes and the dermis a connective tissue with a large fraction of collagen and elastin fibers providing strength and flexibility (Figure 2.1) [4].



Figure 2.1. Structure of the skin and underlying subcutaneous tissue.

The skin can be regarded both as a bridge and a barrier between our body and the exogenous environment. It upholds a multitude of vital functions, e.g. it mediates sensory perceptions, regulates body temperature and the endogenous water balance, acts as a blood reservoir and protects the body from harmful UV-radiation and physical trauma [1].

Another key function of the skin is to protect the living interior compartments of the body from invasion by pathogenic microorganisms. This task is fulfilled via the collaboration of a membrane like physical barrier (*stratum corneum*), a biochemical barrier (e.g. hydrolytic enzymes, antibacterial fatty acids and antimicrobial peptides) and an immunological barrier involving the cells of the immune systems [5]. Together, these form a bio-physicochemical first line of defense, which would be impossible to live without. This chapter includes a brief introduction to the anatomy of the skin, with a specific focus on the structures related to the skin barrier functions.

#### 2.1 Epidermis

#### 2.1.1 Cellular composition and structure

Epidermis is composed of terminally differentiating keratinocytes, epidermal dendritic cells or Langerhans cells, melanocytes, and merkel cells [4]. Of these, the keratinocytes are the most abundant cell type making up approximately 95% of the epidermal volume [1]. The keratinocytes forms a stratified squamous epithelium, generally divided into four specific layers based on the degree of cellular differentiation, i.e. the *stratum basale*, the *stratum spinousum*, the *stratum granulosum* and the *stratum corneum* (Figure 2.2) [6]. Langerhans cells, which are the second most abundant cell type in the epidermis, are professional antigen presenting cells, which have an important role in the skin immune defense [7, 8]. Melanocytes are melanin-producing cells residing in the basal cell layer [4]. Melanin is a pigment protecting the nucleus of basal keratinocytes from UV-radiation. Merkel cells, which also reside in the basal cell layer, are sensory receptor cells associated with dermal nerve fibers [4]. The average thickness of human epidermis is approximately 75-150  $\mu$ m, but varies significantly depending on the body site [3].



**Figure 2.2**. The structure of the epidermis, comprising the basal membrane, *stratum basale*, *stratum spinosum*, *stratum granulosum* and *stratum corneum*. Adjacent keratinocytes are connected via desmosomes, which bind to keratin intermediate filaments. Keratinohyaline granules, formed in the spinous layer, contain profillagrin which aggregates the keratins in the stratum corneum. Lamellar bodies contain lipids, which are expelled into the extracellular matrix in the border between *stratum granulosum* and *stratum corneum*.

#### 2.1.2 Viable epidermis

*Stratum basale, spinosum* and *granulosum* are the living layers of the epidermis and are together commonly referred to as the viable epidermis. *Stratum basale* is a single layer of columnar shaped cells connected to the epidermal basement membrane [4]. It includes a subpopulation of mitotic epidermal stem cells [9]. The basal cells undergo continuous cell divisions renewing the suprabasal epidermal cell populations. *Stratum spinosum*, is a five to ten cell layers thick structure composed of cuboidal cells and *stratum granulosum* is composed of two to three layers of squamous cells [3]. Epidermis is an avascular epithelium, and the cells are dependent on the passive diffusive flow of nutrients from the capillaries in dermis. The keratinocytes in viable epidermis are interconnected via desmosomes, adherence junctions, gap junctions and tight junctions [1].

#### 2.1.3 Stratum corneum

Stratum corneum is an approximately 16-20  $\mu$ m thick layer of dead keratinocytes or corneocytes, embedded in a matrix of lamellar lipid bilayers [6]. It is commonly compared to a brick wall protecting the viable endogenous compartments.

The bricks (corneocytes) are 40-50 µm broad and 1 µm thick, hexagonal, scale-like cells formed by the terminally differentiating keratinocytes, in a type of programmed cell death commonly referred to as cornification [10, 11]. Briefly, as the proliferating basal keratinocytes are detached from the basal membrane and move up into the spinous layer, the cells starts to synthesize new sets of structural proteins, of which some becomes cross-linked beneath the plasma membrane. Cross-linking of proteins under the cell membrane continuous up in the granular layer, building an insoluble protein polymer called the cornified envelope. Concurrently, profillagrin, originating from keratohyalin granules formed in the spinous layer decomposes into fillagrin, which aggregates and cross-links the keratins forming insoluble intracellular macro-fibers, which are covalently attached to the cornified envelope. The corneocytes are continuously exfoliated or desquamated at the skin surface and the epidermis is completely renewed every 25-45 days [3].

The mortar is composed of a matrix of polar lipids, mainly ceramides (45-50 %), free fatty acids (10-15 %) and cholesterol (25 %) [11-14]. These are synthesized from phospholipid precursors in lamellar bodies, originating from the Golgi, which fuses with the plasma membrane in the border between the granular layer and *stratum corneum*. The lipids are organized in multi-lamellar lipid bilayers with alternating lipophilic and hydrophilic domains (Figure 2.1), stabilized via hydrophilic interactions between the polar head-groups and hydrophobic interactions between the long, straight, aliphatic tails of the ceramides and the free fatty acids. A fraction of the ceramides content is also covalently attached to cornified envelope forming a lipid envelope strengthening the cornified envelop [10]. The lipid fraction is of major importance for the skin barrier, e.g. diseases affecting the lipid composition and structure of *stratum corneum* have been shown to alter the barrier properties of the skin [13].

#### 2.1.4 Keratins

Keratin is the main structural protein of the keratinocytes and the most abundant protein in the epidermis [15, 16]. Keratins assembled into fibrous structures called keratin intermediate filaments, extending between the nuclear lamina and cell membrane associated protein complexes called desmosomes (Figure 2.2). Keratin intermediate filaments form the cytoskeleton of the epidermal cells. Keratin intermediate filaments are composed of pairs of different types of keratins. Basal cells mainly express pairs of keratin 5 (K5) and keratin 14 (K14) while spinous and granular cells express keratin 1 and keratin 10 [17-21]. As the cell progress up into the *stratum corneum*, keratin intermediate filaments are aggregated with fillagrin leading to a structural collapse of the cell [22, 23].

#### 2.2 Dermis

The dermis is a connective tissue separated from epidermis by the basal membrane. It can be divided in two separated layers, the superficial papillary layer and the underlying reticular dermis (Figure 2.1). The papillary layer includes the dermal papillae forming peglike structures penetrating the epidermis. Dermis is mostly composed of collagen and elastin fibers in a polysaccharide matrix. The cellular fraction includes fibroblasts, macrophages, dermal dendritic cells and lymphocytes. The dermis is also rich in vascular channels (blood vessels and lymphatic vessels) and nerve fibers. The dermis is attached to the hypodermis, an adipose tissue, which connects the skin to the internal body structures, primarily the muscles [1, 4].

#### 2.3 Skin appendages

The skin appendages include the hair follicles, the hair, the sebaceous glands and the sweat glands. The appendages originate from epidermal tissue but penetrate deep into the reticular dermis. The hair, hair follicle and hair follicle associated sebaceous glands are generally referred to as the pilosebaceous unit (PSU). The PSU extend all the way down to the hypodermis. In human skin there is an average of 10 - 70 PSUs per cm<sup>2</sup> covering approximately 0.1% of the total skin surface in the average adult man [24]. The PSU cell population includes more than 20 different cell types and it has a relatively large fraction of stem cells and immune cells e.g. Langerhans cells, T-cells and macrophages [9, 25-27]. The follicle wall is composed of an internal and external epithelial root sheath and a basement

membrane called the glassy membrane and it is surrounded by an extensive network of perifollicular capillaries [28]. The follicle associated sebaceous glands produce sebum, a mixture of fatty acids, which are secreted to the skin surface. Sebum function as a natural moisturizer softening the skin and the hair. It is also a bactericidal protecting against pathogen invasion [1]. The skin appendages are regions of partly reduced skin barrier. Their implication in the uptake of topical applied compounds will be discussed further in the subsequent chapters of this thesis.

### **3** Contact Allergy

Contact allergy is a T-cell mediated delayed type (IV) contact hypersensitivity disease caused by low molecular weight chemical allergens called haptens [29, 30]. The clinical outcome of contact allergy is a skin inflammation with locally confined erythema and oedema referred to as allergic contact dermatitis (ACD) [30]. Contemporary lifestyles has led to an increase in the public exposure to haptens, and contact allergy has become a common health problem, affecting approximately 15 -20% of the population in the western world [2]. Haptens are found in a wide variety of consumer products, e.g. in cosmetics and household products [31, 32]. Occupational related exposure is also frequent [33, 34]. The most common contact allergen today is nickel followed by fragrances [32]. Preservatives [35], UV-filters [36] and epoxy resins [37] are other prevalent haptens. This chapter will give an introduction to the chemical and immunological mechanisms in ACD, methods for predictive testing and factors affecting the sensitization potency of haptens. Also, the fluorescent model haptens used in this thesis will be discussed.

#### 3.1 Pathogenesis

The immunological mechanisms involved in the development of ACD can be divided into two phases, i.e. a sensitization phase and an elicitation phase. The sensitization phase is the first exposure to a hapten leading to a priming and differentiation of effector T-cells and immunological memory. The elicitation phase takes place upon re-exposure to the hapten leading to a hapten-specific T-cell mediated localized inflammation in the affected tissue (Figure 3.1).

#### 3.1.1 Sensitization

The sensitization phase starts with the entry of hapten into the skin, leading to the formation of immunogenic hapten-protein complexes and the release of proinflammatory cytokines by the cells in the skin [38]. Hapten or hapten-protein complexes are recognized and internalized by immature resident epidermal and dermal dendritic cells or recruited dendritic cell precursors.

Cytokine signalling triggers a migration of haptenated dendritic cells from the peripheral tissue via the afferent lymphatic vessels towards the draining lymph nodes [39-41]. The signaling also elicits a maturation of the dendritic cells into a professional antigen presenting cells with up-regulated expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and co-stimulatory molecules. Naïve T-cells home to the deep cortical unit of the lymph node where dendritic cells present processed hapten-protein complexes (haptenated peptides) on the surface of MHC molecules [42]. If a T-cell has a cognate T-cell receptor and co-receptors (CD4 or CD8) to the MHC-peptide antigen complex it will be activated leading to the proliferation and differentiation into antigen specific effector or memory T-cells. Haptenated peptides presented by dendritic cells on the surface of MHC class I molecules activate cytotoxic T-cells expressing the CD8 glycoprotein co-receptors and haptenated peptides presented on MHC class II molecules activate helper T-cells or regulatory T-cells expressing CD4 glycoprotein co-receptors [43]. Primed effector T-cells leaves the lymph node via the efferent lymphatic and start to circulate the blood, the peripheral tissue and the peripheral lymphoid organs. Sensitization phase takes approximately 10-15 days in man and 5-7 days in mouse [38].

#### 3.1.2 Elicitation

The elicitation phase begins with a non-specific hapten induced secretion of proinflammatory chemokines and cytokines. This triggers and an up-regulation of MHC molecules on the keratinocytes and cutaneous dendritic cells and an extravasation of hapten specific CD8+ cytotoxic effector T-cells. The infiltrated cytotoxic T-cells are activated by haptenated peptides presented on MHC I molecules. Release of new sets of inflammatory cytokines, leads to the infiltration and activation of other cells of the immune system, e.g. neutrophils, natural killer cells and regulatory T-cells [38, 44]. The influx of liquids, proteins and cells from the blood leads to a local erythema and oedema, which generally peak between 48-72 h in man [45] and 24-48 h in mouse [46].



**Figure 3.1.** An overview of the events during the sensitization and elicitation phase in allergic contact dermatitis. The sensitization phase (**a** and **b**): Hapten penetrate the skin barrier (1) and interacts with skin resident cells and proteins (2) leading to the formation of immunogenic hapten-protein complexes and the release of proinflammatory mediators. The hapten protein complexes are recognized and internalized by immature cutaneous dendritic cells (3), which migrates towards the skin draining lymph nodes (4), where they present processed hapten-protein complexes to naïve T-cells (5). Activation of T-cells leads to a clonal expansion (6) of effector cells, which leaves the lymph node and enters the systemic circulation (7). The elicitation phase (c): Formation of hapten-protein complexes and release of proinflammatory mediators attracts effector T-cells that are activated by skin resident antigen-presenting cells, e.g. dendritic cells (2). Further releases of of proinflammatory mediators attract other leukocytes, e.g. neutrophils and NK-cells, which amplify the inflammatory reaction (3). Adopted from [38].

#### 3.2 Haptens

Haptens are intrinsically too small to be recognized by the immune system and to cause an allergic reactions [47]. To trigger an adaptive immune response, hapten must react with endogenous macromolecules, proteins or peptides, forming immunogenic non-self hapten-protein complexes [48]. Most haptens are electrophiles, e.g. alkyl halides, aldehydes,  $\alpha\beta$ -unsaturated ketones, esters and amines, hydroperoxides, epoxides, and isothiocyanates [29].

Skin sensitizers are believed to form hapten-protein complexes via polar reactions with nucleophilic amino acids, e.g. lysines, cysteines, histidines, methionines and tyrosines. Examples of reactions which could be relevant, are bimolecular substitutions (S<sub>N</sub>2), aromatic substitutions, Michael additions, Schiff base formations and acylations [29]. Haptens can also form protein complexes via radical reactions (e.g. hydroperoxides) [49] or through metal-protein coordination complexes (e.g. nickel and chromium) [50].

The formation of immunogenic hapten-protein complexes is a prerequisite for activation of the adaptive immune system. Still, some non-reactive compounds also cause contact allergy. These are referred to as pre- or prohaptens. These are activated to reactive allergenic intermediates (electrophilic or radical) via autoxidation (prehaptens) [51-53] or metabolic transformations (prohaptens) [54]. Examples of non-reactive chemicals that have been found to form reactive sensitizing intermediates are aliphatic and aromatic amines, azo dyes, catechols, hydroquinones, conjugated dienes, primary alcohols and  $\alpha\beta$ -unsaturated oximes [29, 55].

In this thesis a series of fluorescent model haptens, i.e. isothiocyanates and bromobimanes, were applied to study different aspects in contact allergy. These haptens are discussed in the following two sections.

#### 3.2.1 Isothiocyanates

Isothiocyanates are strong electrophiles, and are potential sensitizers under the condition that they penetrate the skin barrier. Indeed, several cases of ACD caused by isothiocyanates have been reported. Specifically neoprene materials and adhesive tapes have been shown

to be sources of sensitizing isothiocyanates, e.g. phenyl isothiocyanate is released from rubber materials, as a degradation product from thioureas [56-58].

Isothiocyanates are expected to form hapten protein complexes via conjugation to e.g. lysine and cysteine amino acids or N-terminus of proteins and peptides. However, only the reaction with amines generates stable products. The reaction with cysteine is reversible and thiol adducts can be converted into stable amine adducts under physiological conditions [59] (Figure 3.2). It has been shown that isothiocyanates reacts selectively with terminal amines in proteins [60].



**Figure 3.2.** Reactivity of isothiocyanates with thiols and amines. Isothiocyanates reacts with thiols (e.g. cysteine, **a**) leading to the formation of dithiocarbamates and with amines (e.g. lysine, **b**) generating thioureas.

Fluorescent isothiocyanates are commonly used as labels for antibodies in immunofluorescence techniques [60, 61]. Fluorescent isothiocyanates have also been used as model haptens in mechanistic studies of contact hypersensitivity [62-64]. In this thesis, fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) and rhodamine B isothiocyanate (RBITC) (Figure 3.3) were used as model haptens. FITC is a green fluorophore with excitation maximum near 495 nm and an emission maximum at 520 nm. RBITC is a red fluorophore with excitation maximum at 543 nm and an emission maximum near 580 nm [61]. FITC was used initially but replaced by RBITC, which has less overlap with the skin autofluorescence.

#### 3.2.2 Bromobimanes

Bromobimanes (Figure 3.3) is a group of halogenated thiol reactive caged fluorophores, i.e. they are weakly fluorescent compounds which form highly fluorescent thioether adducts with sulfhydryles via  $S_N 2$  displacement of one (mBBr) or two dBBr) bromines [65, 66]. The

fluorescent bimane-derivatives, formed upon alkylation with e.g. proteins or peptides, have a excitation maximum around 390 nm and an emission maximum around 480 nm [67]. Bromobimanes have been used as labelling reagents for identification and quantification of peptides and proteins in cells using various techniques, e.g. gel electrophoresis, liquid chromatography, flow cytometry and fluorescence microscopy [68-78].

In this thesis, the bromobimanes mBBr and dBBr were used as model sensitizers to identify hapten targets in skin, i.e hapten protein complexes were visualized following uncaging of the bromobimanes via conjugation to cutaneous proteins or peptides.



**Figure 3.3.** Molecular structures of the model haptens fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), rhodamine B isothiocyanate (RBITC), monobromobimane (mBBr) and dibromobimane (dBBr) and their non-reactive, non-sensitizing structural analogues fluorescein, rhodamine B and syn-(methyl,methyl)bimane, which were used as control compounds.

#### **3.3** Predicting sensitization potency

When suspected, contact allergy can be diagnosed in a patch test performed by dermatologists [51]. Positive patch test reactions can have significant socio-economic consequences, both for the individual and society; e.g. numerous cases of contact allergy are work-related and often lead to long sick-leaves and sometimes oblige the patient to change profession. Preventive work, e.g. identification of haptens and removal and replacement of allergenic compounds from the market, is therefore of great importance to reduce the prevalence of contact allergy. Next to human volunteers [79-81], animal models e.g. the Guinea Pig Maximization Test [82, 83], and the murine Local Lymph Node Assay (LLNA) [84-86] are probably the most reliable assays for predictive screening of contact allergens. Presently it is the murine LLNA that is the most commonly adopted method. The LLNA was applied to investigate the sensitization potency of the model haptens used in this thesis.

#### 3.3.1 The Local Lymph Node Assay

The murine LLNA (Figure 3.4) is a validated standard test for predictive screening and identification of sensitizing chemicals [87]. In the LLNA, sensitization potency of a chemical is evaluated by measuring a dose dependent proliferative response in the cells of the skin draining cervical lymph node cell population. The LLNA assays presented in this thesis were performed according to OECD recommendations. Briefly, 18 mice are divided in six groups with three mice in each group. Each of five groups is then exposed to a single specific concentration of the hapten in a test vehicle for 3 consecutive days (day 1-3). Concurrently, the 6<sup>th</sup> group (the control group) is exposed to the vehicle without the hapten. The formulations are applied topically on the dorsal side of the ears. Three days after the last application (day 6) mice are injected with <sup>3</sup>H-methyl thymidine and are sacrificed. Cervical lymph nodes are excised, single cell suspensions are prepared and further treated before analysis by  $\beta$ -scintillation counting (day 7).



**Figure 3.4.** The murine local lymph node assay (LLNA). Day 1-3: Mice are treated with test formulations once a day. Day 3-6: Incubation. Day 6: Mice are injected with <sup>3</sup>H-methyl thymidine, cervical lymph nodes are excised and single cell suspensions are prepared. Day 7: Analysis of single cell suspensions by beta-scintillation counting and calculation of stimulation index and EC3 value.

The  $\beta$ -scintillation counter measures the amount of <sup>3</sup>H-methyl thymidine incorporated in DNA of the lymph node cells from each treatment group, and is expressed as disintegrations per minutes (dpm). A stimulation index (SI) is calculated according to Equation 1, where n is the number of lymph nodes in each group.

$$SI = rac{\left(\frac{dpm}{n}\right)_{Treated}}{\left(\frac{dpm}{n}\right)_{Control}}$$
 Equation 1

The sensitizing capacity of chemicals tested in the LLNA is classified based on EC3 values. The EC3 value is the concentration at which the lymph node cell proliferative response is increased by a factor of three compared to a vehicle exposed control group, i.e. a SI equal to 3. A hapten can be classified as extreme (EC3 < 0.1%, w/v), strong (EC3 < 1 %, w/v), moderate (EC3 <10 %, w/v) or weak sensitizers (EC3 < 100%, w/v) according to a generally adopted classification system [88].

The LLNA was employed to determine the sensitizing capacity of the model haptens used in Paper II, IV and V. A modified non-pooled LLNA was used in Paper III to perform a statistical analysis of the variation in the sensitization potency of a hapten when applied in different vehicles. The statistical LLNA experiments were performed as the standard assay described above with the following exceptions: only three groups (one control and two test groups) with up to nine mice per group were used, the two test groups received the same concentration of the hapten but in different vehicles and excised lymph nodes from each mouse were treated and analyzed separately. All animal assays included in this thesis were approved by the local ethics committee.

#### 3.3.2 Alternative non-animal based assays

In the past guinea pigs were frequently used for the identification of contact allergens. Recently, guinea pig based assays became more or less replaced by the murine LLNA, described above. Due to public concerns the use of animal based toxicity assays, e.g. in the screening of products for identification of skin sensitizers, is now restricted by new legislations within the European Union. An ban on animal testing of cosmetic products was implemented in 2009 and there is a pending marketing ban on animal tested cosmetic products, starting from 2013 according to the seventh amending directive [89] to the European cosmetic directive [90]. Thus, there is an urgent need for the development of robust alternative methods, i.e. *in vitro, in chemico* or *in silico* models for predictive screening.

Although, *in vitro* methods have been shown to be relatively successful in some cases, e.g. to predict local toxicity, predicting the sensitization potency of chemicals remains complicated. This is due to the many mechanisms involved and their complexity. Although much effort has been made, a considerable amount of work is still a head before acceptable alternative methods can be adopted, which could replace the murine LLNA. Example of parameters which may influence on the sensitization potency of a hapten and must be considered in the design of an *in vitro* test are autoxidation, skin penetration, bioavailability, biotransformations, hapten-protein reactivity and epitope recognition by T-cells. A thorough understanding of these processes and their influence on the sensitization potency of haptens are important when designing alternative screening methods.

As it is difficult to include all the above-mentioned parameters in a single assay it is generally assumed that a toolbox of alternative methods will have to be used to replace e.g. the murine LLNA. Until now, numerous different approaches have been investigated, e.g. *in* 

*vitro* cell based assays [91, 92], *in chemico* peptide reactivity assays [93, 94] and *in silico* expert systems [95, 96]. A peptide reactivity assay and two the cell based assays, i.e. the Myeloid U937 skin sensitization test and the human cell line activation test are presently up for pre-validation by the European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods [97]. However, it has been pointed out that the deadlines for replacement of the animal based assays with alternative methods are unrealistic, especially in quantitative risk assessment of contact allergens [98].

### 4 Cutaneous absorption

Successful and safe delivery of topical drugs and cosmetics relies on effective formulations, which maximize drug concentrations in target tissue. Some compounds are intended to stay on the skin surface (sunscreens and barrier creams) [99-101] and some in the stratum corneum (moisturizers). Other should reach the viable epidermis of dermis (local analgesics, antifungal agents and drugs used in photodynamic therapy) [102-104], be taken up systemically (nitroglycerine, and nicotine) [105] or are specifically targeting the PSUs (retinoids) [106]. Target specific delivery is not always an easy task, due to the complexity of the skin and the skin barrier. Several different parameters will have to be considered and optimized to achieve maximum effect of the active components while reducing negative side effects in non-target tissue. Cutaneous absorption is also highly relevant factor in risk assessment, e.g. in the identification of skin sensitizers, as the sensitization potency partly depends on the bioavailability of the hapten. This chapter will comprise an overview of some of the processes related to uptake of xenobiotics by the skin (with respect to the physical barrier) and factors affecting the uptake. It will also give an introduction the topical delivery systems used in the studies presented in Paper I and III. For clarification, cutaneous absorption will refer to the penetration of a topically applied compound into a specific layer of the skin and percutaneous absorption refers to the uptake by the skin and the resorption by the circulatory system, i.e. the lymph and the blood, in the dermis. Also, in the discussion, the definition topical application or delivery will here only refer to external epicutaneous administration.

#### 4.1 Skin penetration pathways

The efficiency of a topical drug or the sensitizing potency of a hapten depends on the ability of the compound to cross the *stratum corneum* and enter the viable compartments of the skin and the circulation. The uptake over the *stratum corneum* can proceed via three general pathways (Figure 4.1), i.e. the intracellular route over the corneocytes, the tortuous extracellular pathway via the lipid matrix, and the shunt pathway through the skin appendages (PSU and sweat glands) [107].



**Figure 4.1.** Potential penetration pathways through the *stratum corneum*. Topically applied compounds can enter the skin via shunts (e.g. the pilsosebaceous units and sweat glands), via the transcellular route over the corneocytes or via the tortuous extracellular pathway in the lipid matrix (**a**). A three-dimensional illustration of the lipid matrix, composed of bilayers of polar lipids, i.e. ceramides, fatty acids and cholesterol (**b**).

Of these, the extracellular pathway via the lipid matrix is generally regarded as the most important. Intracellular transport is limited due to the physical strength of the cornified envelope and the dense keratinization of the corneocytes. Shunts may offer a relatively rapid uptake through the *stratum corneum* and into the deeper skin layers; however these are generally considered to play minor role in the total flux due to the relatively limited surface area of the appendages, <1% of the skin surface [108, 109]. However, the significance of shunt diffusion is debated. It has been suggested that transport via the shunts could predominate in some specific cases, e.g. in the cutaneous absorption of very polar compounds, compounds with relatively high molecular weight or larger particles [109]. Ultimately it is the physiological state of the skin barrier, chemical and physical properties of the applied compound and the formulation in which it is applied on the skin that determine the penetration pathways through the *stratum corneum* as well as the amount the applied dose absorbed.

#### 4.2 Factors affecting the absorption of topically applied compounds

The cutaneous and percutaneous absorption of a topically applied compound depends on several different, chemical (compound specific) and physiological (skin dependent) factors (Table 4.1). These factors may also indirectly affect the potency of a skin sensitizer. Molecular weight and logP are important molecular properties regulating cutaneous and percutaneous absorption. A low molecular weight and a logP around 2 is often regarded as optimal for effective transdermal delivery [110]. Compounds with a molecular weight larger than 1000 Da are not assumed to penetrate healthy skin [111]. Molecular weight, logP can be used as predictors in *in silico* calculations of skin permeability coefficients (K<sub>P</sub>) *in silico* [112, 113].

Another important chemical parameter is binding. Conjugation to proteins in epidermis or dermis may reduce the cutaneous absorption or lead to an accumulation of the compound in a specific skin layer [114]. This is a parameter, which has shown to be specifically relevant when investigating the cutaneous absorption of haptens, as will be demonstrated in this thesis. Examples of other chemically related factors are concentration, dose, hydrogen donor and acceptor strength, pKa and vapour pressure. Physiological factors are also important to consider. For example, local variations in e.g. *stratum corneum* thickness and hair follicle density may influence the degree of absorption. Skin diseases or physical damage to the skin barrier can also affect the uptake[114].

cutaneous absorption of xenobiotics. Adopted fom [114].					
Chemical factors	Environmental factors	Physiological factors			
Charge	Concentration	Age			
Chemical reactivity	Contact area	Blood flow			
H-bond donor/acceptor	Contact time	Disease or damage			
logP	Dose	Gender			
Melting point	Formulation/Vehicle	Hair follicle density			
MW	Occlusion	Metabolism			
рКа	рН	Species			
Vapor pressure	Temperature	Skin thickness			

**Table 4.1** A summary of chemical, environmental and physiological factors affecting the cutaneous absorption of xenobiotics. Adopted fom [114].

#### 4.3 Fick's law of diffusion

Percutaneous absorption can be regarded as multi-lamellar membrane transport process, including a multiple partitioning and diffusion coefficients in the different skin layers, controlling the overall flux. *Stratum corneum* diffusion coefficient is commonly considered to be the rate-limiting step in the cutaneous absorption of xenobiotics [115]. One exception could be very lipophilic compounds were the partitioning from the *stratum corneum* to the more hydrated environment in the viable epidermis could be the rate limiting step. In a general approximation, *stratum corneum* is regarded as an inert homogenous membrane, and percutaneous absorption is treated as a classical membrane transport phenomena, i.e. a passive diffusion driven by a concentration gradient [116]. Consequently, cutaneous absorption can be analyzed according to the general Law of mass transfer and Fick's Laws of diffusion. Fick's first law of diffusion (Equation 2) states that the flux (J), i.e. the number of absorbed molecules per unit area and unit time is proportional to the concentration gradient ( $\Delta$ C) over the skin.

$$J = K_P \Delta C = \frac{KD\Delta C}{l}$$
 Equation 2

The proportionality constant ( $K_P$ ), called the permeability coefficient, is a measure of the diffusion rate (cm/h) of a topically applied compound through the skin. The permeability coefficient is the product of the partition coefficient (K) between the vehicle and *stratum corneum* and the diffusion coefficient (D) in the *stratum corneum* divided by the diffusion path-length. However, the skin is a complex, heterogeneous, biologically active structure and several deviations from this approximation are likely to be observed.

#### 4.4 Topical delivery systems

Effective, target specific uptake of drugs is one of the big challenges in the pharmaceutical industry. While oral administration is by far the most commonly used method it is not always the most appropriate. For example, oral administration is not suitable if the drug is sensitive to metabolic transformations in the liver or in the gastro-intestinal tract. Oral

administration is neither the best choice when a prolonged continuous release is desirable [117]. In some cases epicutaneous administration might be good alternative, especially in local therapy of skin related diseases. However, epicutaneous delivery is often hampered by the low permeability of the skin barrier. Thus, much effort is being made in the development of efficient topical formulations.

Epicutaneous formulations must be adapted depending on the target tissue, e.g. maximizing the percutaneous absorption of systemically active drugs or target specific skin compartments in the treatment of skin related diseases. Similarly, formulations of cosmetic product must be optimized in order to improve their efficiency and to minimize the risk of unwanted side effects. Often cosmetic products, compared to drugs, are intended to act on the surface of the skin, alternatively in the uppermost layers of the stratum corneum. Penetration into the viable compartments of the skin or systemic uptake is generally undesirable. Development of formulations reducing the uptake while maintaining the specific cosmetic effect could lead to safer consumer products. Interestingly, although having opposite aims, with the pharmaceutical industry wanting to improve the absorption whereas cosmetic industry wants to reduce the absorption, pharmaceutical and cosmetic cutaneous formulations are often based on same formulation strategies using emulsion based delivery systems [118].

#### 4.4.1 Cutaneous penetration enhancers

Many different penetration enhancing formulations and strategies has been investigated in order to improve the absorption of topically applied drugs. Chemical penetration enhancers are pharmacologically inactive compounds, applied in order to increase uptake of drugs from a topical formulation [119]. Some chemical enhancers are thought alter drug solubility in either the formulation or in the *stratum corneum* changing the stratum corneum-vehicle partitioning coefficient. Other enhancers are thought influence the drug diffusion in *stratum corneum*, e.g. by disruption and fluidization of the ordered lamellar lipid bilayer structure or by *stratum corneum*-lipid extraction [109, 120]. The exact mechanism of many penetration enhancers remains speculative. Physical enhancers, e.g. dermal patches with occlusive effect [105, 121, 122], iontophoresis, i.e. electric potential driven transport of charged molecules over *stratum corneum* [123, 124] and physical disruption of the *stratum corneum*, e.g. using micro-needles [125], can be used to improve transdermal delivery of drugs.

#### 4.4.2 Lipid based formulations

When amphiphilic molecules are suspended in aqueous solutions, they self-assemble in order to minimize the contact between hydrophobic parts of the molecules and the solvent system. The phase separation leads to the formation of various structures, e.g. spherical or cylindrical micelles, lamellar phases, bicontinuous structures or vesicles. The structure that is formed depends on several different factors, e.g. the molecular structure of the surfactant and its critical packing parameter, the solvent system, the temperature and the concentration[126].

The simplest forms of self-assembly are spherical micelles, generally formed in relatively dilute concentrations of surfactant in aqueous solutions (at the critical micelle concentration, CMC) [126]. At increasing concentration micelles can grow into thread like cylindrical micelles which eventually overlap and form a liquid crystalline bicontinuous phase, composed of two continuous hydrophilic solvent phases and a lipophilic surfactant phase [126]. Two different lipid-based delivery systems were studied in the work connected to this thesis. The potential of bicontinuous cubic phases in topical delivery of drugs were investigated in Paper I, and effect of lipid vesicles on the sensitization potency of a hapten was investigated in Paper III and these are discussed in more detail below.

#### 4.4.3 Bicontinuous cubic phases

Bicontinuous cubic phases (Figure 4.2) have been shown to be promising drug delivery system [127]. One of their main advantages is the ability to dissolve both hydrophilic and lipophilic compounds. This is due to the bipolar structure of the system [118]. Bicontinuous cubic phases have also proven to be effective formulations in epicutaneous delivery of drugs. Monoolein (MO) and phytantriol (PT) (Figure 4.2) are polar lipids forming reverse bicontinuous cubic phase in water. The MO and PT based cubic phases consists of a continuous lipid bilayer (3-4 nm) and two water channels (5-6nm) [118]. Bender el al. have previously shown that topical delivery of aminolaevulinic acids, used in photodynamic therapy, can be improved when applied in MO and PT based cubic phases compared to a commercial ointment composed of a micro-emulsion in mice [128]. However, the mechanism was unknown and was therefore further investigated in Paper I.

#### 4.4.4 Lipid vesicles

Lipid vesicles are colloidal particles formed by amphiphatic molecules, e.g. phospholipids, suspended in aqueous solutions. The lipids are organized in bilayers, which close on themselves forming unilamellar or multilamellar (depending on the formulation and preparation), spherical shaped structures with aqueous cores (Figure 4.2). The size of the vesicles may range from approximately 20-25 nm up to a few microns [129]. The first Paper describing the formation of phospholipid vesicles, liposomes, were published in 1965 [130]. Investigations of the use of liposomes in topical formulation started in the beginning of 1980 [131]. Since then there has been an increasing interest for lipid vesicles in skin related products, from both the pharmaceutical and the cosmetic industries. Like the cubic phase, lipid vesicles can dissolve high concentration of both lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds. It has also been shown that lipid vesicles can improve local delivery and sustained release of topical drugs [131-137]. Furthermore, vesicles made of phospholipids have high biocompatibility and are therefore considered relatively safe to use [138].

As lipid vesicles are included in many formulations, we wanted to study how these affect the sensitization potency of haptens. The lipid vesicles used in Paper III were prepared by suspending 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC, Figure 4.2) in a 40 % ethanol in water solution. Lipid vesicles prepared using ethanol in the aqueous phase are commonly referred to as ethosomes. This type of vesicles were first introduced by Touitou et al [139]. Nano-scale vesicles (< 100 nm) were prepared using extrusion technique [140] and micro-scale vesicles were prepared by the thin film hydration method [141].



**Figure 4.2.** Molecular structures of Monoolein (MO), phytantriol (PT), 1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (POPC, **a**). An extruder used for the preparation of nano-scale vesicle systems (**b**). A three-dimensional illustration of a lipid vesicle (**c**). A three-dimensional illustration of a bicontinuous cubic phase (**d**).

# 4.5 Methods to study cutaneous and percutaneous absorption of topically applied compounds

There is a rather extensive collection of tools and techniques, which can be used to analyze the cutaneous and percutaneous absorption of topically applied compounds. The choice should ideally be made based on the aim of the study, and a combination of two or more complementing techniques will generally give the best picture of the reality. However, compromises might have to be done depending on e.g. the available equipment and materials, ethical considerations and technical expertise. In clinical studies, tape stripping and dermal micro-dialysis are commonly used techniques to measure local concentrations of topically applied drugs [142, 143] while blood and urine analyses are used to analyze the systemic absorption [144, 145]. Pharmacodynamic activity can also be used to assess the bioavailability of some drugs. However, it is not always suitable or practically possible to perform analysis on patients. As an alternative, laboratory animals can be used or measurements can be performed *in vitro* using excised or reconstructed skin or synthetic membranes in diffusion cells. Another alternative is calculation of permeability and diffusion constants *in silico*, based on the intrinsic molecular properties of the investigated compound, e.g. molecular weight and logP [112, 113].

Diffusion cells (Figure 4.3) are one of the most frequently used *in vitro* methods to analyze the cutaneous uptake of topically applied compounds [146]. Briefly, a skin sample is mounted between a donor and receiver compartment. The donor compartment is filled with a receiver solution and the investigated formulation is applied on the skin in the donor compartment. The receiver solution is sampled at specific time intervals (static diffusion cells) or continuously (flow through diffusion cells) and the concentration of the compound is analyzed using a suitable method depending on the compound investigated. The rate of change in the concentration in the receiver solution can be used to calculate the flux (J), diffusion constant (D) and the permeability constant (P) for the compound in the membrane according to Fick's first law (Equation 3). Assuming infinite dose conditions and steady state diffusion,  $\Delta C$  can be substituted with the concentration in the vehicle, C<sub>v</sub>.



**Figure 4.3.** Tools for *in vitro* analysis of percutaneous absorption. A flow through diffusion cell (**a**) and a static diffusion cell (**b**).
Permeability coefficients derived from analysis using diffusion cells are often used as a relative measurement of the bioavailability of topically applied compounds in drug delivery and toxicological studies. Diiffusion cells measures only the amount of compound going through the skin, an approximation of the systemic bioavailability. It does not provide any information regarding local tissue concentrations. Calculated permeability coefficients obtained by measuring the flux of two different compounds or a single compound from two different formulations, do not necessarily reflect the relative drug concentrations in the skin. Tape stripping and skin extraction can be used to obtain additional information regarding local tissue concentrations, i.e. using the Saarbrücken penetration model [147]. Neither tape stripping nor skin extraction techniques have been used in this thesis and will therefor not be discussed in more detail here.

Although the methods discussed in this chapter successfully predict the cutaneous or percutaneous bioavailability of topically applied compounds, they have a common limitation, i.e. they provide a relatively restricted insight into what is actually happening in the skin. In addition, using tape stripping and skin extraction, the vertical resolution of the cutaneous drug distribution is relatively poor and the methods do not take into account variations in the horizontal distribution. Optical techniques, e.g. fluorescence and electron microscopy, can therefor give a better picture of intracutaneous processes related to the uptake of xenobiotics as will be discussed in the next chapter.

Electron microscopy provides outstanding resolution, and can be used to study e.g. skin morphology and vehicle-induced ultra-structural modification of the skin barrier [6, 148-150]. However it is limited to analysis of fixed sectioned samples. Fluorescence microscopy, e.g. laser scanning confocal microscopy and non-linear two-photon laser scanning microscopy (TPM), has a lower resolution, but afford direct 3D visualization of processes and structures in intact unfixed tissue, in or close to *in vivo* conditions. Both confocal and TPM can be used for tissue imaging; however, TPM is in many respects a more powerful technique for for non-invasive visualization. In this thesis both techniques has been applied and will thus be reviewed below. As TPM has been in focus of the present work, more emphasis will be given to this technique.

#### 5.1 Laser scanning confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy is a well-established imaging technique, and an important tool in e.g. studies of biological systems. Detailed information regarding the basics of laser scanning confocal microscopy can be found elsewhere [151]. Briefly, in fluorescence confocal microscopy signal is generated via single-photon excitation of fluorophores. The sample is irradiated with light having an energy corresponding to, or close to, the one-photon absorption maximum of the compound to be imaged. When irradiated molecules are excited from a ground electronic state ( $S_0$ ) to an excited electronic state ( $S_1$ ). The energy difference between  $S_0$  and  $S_1$  corresponds to the energy of the illumination light. The signal is generated when the molecules return to their ground electronic state and emits a photon (Figure 5.1).

In a conventional fluorescence microscope the entire field of view of the sample is illuminated and imaged simultaneously. This has some advantages, e.g. faster image acquisition. An important drawback is a rather poor depth discrimination of the signal. In a laser scanning confocal system depth discrimination is achieved by point scanning the

illumination beam over the sample. The fluorescence signal from the focal volume returns via the objective lens and the scanning system and is focused on a detector. A pinhole placed in front of the detector function as a spatial filter, excluding out of focus light.

Optical sectioning is a non-invasive technique to dissecting and visualizing the interior of e.g. biological samples. Briefly, a z-stack of images are collected by scanning the fluorescence in the x,y-plane at successive sample depths. The image stack can then be combined into a 3D (x, y, z) representation of the sample. In this work, a Zeiss 510 Meta and a LSM 710 system has been used, and tissue preparation has involved cryosectioning and immunofluorescence techniques.

#### 5.2 Laser scanning two-photon microscopy

TPM is fast growing technique within the field of biomedical imaging and it has been adopted in a wide range of research areas. TPM is especially suitable for live cell and *in vivo* imaging and has been used to visualize e.g. lymphocyte mobility [152] and dendritic cell networks in intact lymph nodes [153], T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes [154], blood flow dynamics deep into the brain of living rats [155] and the dynamics and functions of Langerhans cells in lymph nodes [156]. TPM has also been adopted to study skin morphology and the interactions between the skin and topically applied compounds and formulations, e.g. to investigate the effect of penetration enhancers in topical formulations [157, 158] the uptake of nano-particle borne drugs [159] and the interaction of vesicle formulation with human skin [149]. TPM has also been evaluated as a tool for non-invasive optical diagnostic of skin cancer [160]. The construction of a two-photon is similar to a confocal microscope, i.e. it is a laser scanning system in which images are acquired by raster scanning the sample. A major distinction between the two techniques is the generation of signal, i.e. the excitation process.

#### 5.2.1 Two-photon excitation

As described above, in a confocal microscope fluorescence signal is generated via one photon excitation, i.e. with light having an energy corresponding to the potential between the electronic states  $S_0$  and  $S_1$  of the investigated compound. In TPM, the same signal is induced via a two-photon excitation process, i.e. transfer from  $S_0$  to  $S_1$  proceeds via a

simultaneous ( $10^{-16}$  s) absorptions of two photons, each having approximately half the energy of the potential between S<sub>0</sub> and S<sub>1</sub> (Figure 5.1).

Two-photon excitation was theoretically predicted by Maria Göppert-Mayer in 1931 [161] and practically demonstrated by Kaiser and Garret in 1961 [162]. However, the technique remained in the hands of the 'spectroscopist' until 1992 when Denk and coworkers realized the first imaging system based on two-photon excitation by combining a laser scanning systems and a high intensity pulsed infrared laser [163].

The probability of a two-photon excitation depends on the intensity of the excitation light. Under normal light conditions, it is unlikely that a molecule absorbs two photons within the same quantum moment, e.g. the probability for a one- and a two-photon excitation of a molecule of Rhodamine B in bright sunlight, is approximately once every second respectively once every 10 million years [164]. The output power from a conventional continuous wave laser, used in a standard confocal imaging system, is around 100 000 times to low to generate measurable amounts of two-photon induced fluorescence [164].

In TPM, the rate of the two-photon excitation is increased to measurable levels, by focusing a high intensity pulsed laser beam with a high numerical aperture objective. A pulsed laser enables the use of a very high peak power while keeping the average power low enough not to damage the sample. For example, a pulsed titanium:saphire laser is normally operated at approximately 80 MHz with a pulse duration time of around 100 fs. Thus the laser is on only approximately 8 µs per second keeping the average output from the laser on the same level as a conventional continuous wave laser. As intensity depends on the surface (photon×s<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>×cm<sup>-2</sup>), focusing the laser beam with a high NA objective (~10<sup>-9</sup> cm<sup>2</sup>) generates enough photons in the focal volume [165].



**Figure 5.1.** Principles of optical sectioning in confocal and two-photon microscopy. In confocal microscopy, the fluorescence is generated using UV-Vis excitation light. The signal is collected via the objective lens and the scanning unit (not shown) and focused on a detector. A pinhole placed in front of the detector function as a spatial filter, excluding out of focus light (a). In TPM, fluorescence is induced using near infrared light and optical sectioning can be achieved without the pinhole due to the intrinsically confined excitation volume (green dot, arrow, **b**). Jablonski diagram, showing the generation of fluorescence (F) via a single-photon excitation (1PE, **c**) and a two-photon excitation (2PE, **d**). A single-photon excitation of a fluorescent compound leads to a Stokes shift and a fluorescent signal at a longer wavelength. In TPM the emitted light has a shorter wavelength compared to the excitation wavelength (**e**).

The probability of a two-photon excitation can be calculated according to Equation 3, where  $\delta_2$  is the two-photon cross section,  $P_{ave}$  the time averaged power of the excitation light,  $f_P$  the frequency of the pulsed laser,  $\tau$  the pulse duration time, NA the numerical aperture objective and  $\lambda$  the wavelength of the excitation light [166].

$$n = \frac{\delta_2 P_{ave}^2}{\tau_p f_p^2} \cdot \left(\frac{NA^2}{2hc\lambda}\right)^2 \qquad \text{Equation 3}$$

#### 5.2.2 Optical sectioning

Compared to confocal microscopy, optical sectioning is improved in TPM due to superior penetration of the near infrared illumination light, which is the so called 'optical window' of tissue [165, 167]. As the two-photon excitation depends on the absorption of two photons there is a quadratic, nonlinear, relationship between the fluorescence emission and the intensity of the illumination light. Thus the rate of the two-photon excitation decreases rapidly outside the focal volume. This means that all signals come from molecules in the focal volume and optical sectioning without using a pinhole is possible. Hence, all signal, also scattered photons from the focal volume can be detected, improving the sensitivity and light collection efficiency [168].

Out of focus photobleaching and phototoxic effects are also reduced due to the inherently confined excitation volume and the infrared light is less harmful to living cells and tissue [169]. Moreover, as fluorescent molecules has relatively broad and overlapping two-photon absorption spectra it is often possible to excite several different compounds with the same laser, while keeping the full visible spectral region free for the detection of the emission light [170]. Thus TPM permits straightforward multicolor imaging, e.g when imaging the distribution of a topically applied compound in combination with endogenous fluorescent signals or second harmonic generations [171].

In this work two different TPM systems have been used. A Bio-Rad Radiance 2100MP Rainbow confocal scanning system coupled to an inverted Olympus IX71 microscope and a femtosecond pulsed titanium:sapphire laser (Tsunami<sup>®</sup>, Spectra-Physics) was used in Paper I-IV. The system used in paper V was a Zeiss 710 laser scanning system operated with a Axio Examiner upright microscope and a MaiTai DeepSeeTM femtosecond pulsed laser.



**Figure 5.2.** Schematic illustration of a two-photon microscope including a pump laser, a pulsed titanium:sapphire laser, a scan box with scanning mirrors, the microscope with objective lens, direct detectors and descanned detectors (**a**). Timescales for the generation fluorescence using a pulsed titanium:saphire laser, i.e. pulse duration time =  $10^{-13}$  s, fluorescence =  $10^{-9}$  s and pulse repetition rate =  $10^{-8}$  s (**b**).

### 6 Aims and objectives

This thesis explores different aspects of the cutaneous absorptions and distribution of drugs and skin sensitizers. Specifically, TPM has been applied to get mechanistic insights into processes related to the uptake of xenobiotics and ACD. The specific aims in this thesis were:

- 1. To investigate the uptake and distribution of a hydrophilic model drug following topical application in bicontinuous cubic phases.
- 2. To compare the cutaneous uptake and distribution of a hapten and a non-sensitizing structural analogue.
- 3. To investigate the sensitization potency of haptens, when applied in combination with nano- and micro-scale lipid vesicles
- 4. To study lipid vesicle induced effect on the skin penetration and percutaneous absorption of haptens in relation to sensitization potency.
- 5. To identify hapten targets in skin using caged fluorescent compounds.
- 6. To investigate phthalate induced enhancements in the sensitization potency of isothiocyanates.

# 7.1 Lipid cubic phases in topical drug delivery: Visualization of skin distribution using two-photon microscopy (Paper I)

It has been shown that MO and PT (Figure 4.2) based lipid cubic phases increases aminolevulinic acid (drug used in photodynamic therapy of skin cancer) induced generation of protoporphyrin in mice [128]. The aim in Paper I was to investigate the uptake and distribution of a hydrophilic fluorescent model drug, sulforhodamine B (SRB, Figure 7.1) in human skin, following topical application in the same, MO and PT based formulations.

The experiments were performed *in vitro* using excised human skin, and the cutaneous absorption of SRB was visualized using TPM. The uptake from the cubic phases was compared with a commercial ointment and an aqueous solution. Briefly, full-thickness excised human breast skin was incubated for 24 h with test formulations in static diffusion cells. The formulations were then removed and the skin was mounted in imaging chambers and imaged by TPM.

The cubic phases was shown to be the most effective formulation, improving the uptake of SRB, as compared to the ointment and the aqueous solution (Figure 7.1), corroborating the previous results by Bender et al [128] It was also revealed that SRB penetrated the skin via the extracellular lipid matrix from all four formulations. However, the distribution of SRB in the extracellular domain differed between the cubic phases, the ointment and the water formulation. Two separate hydrophilic penetration routes were identified, an extracellular and an intercluster pathway. Extracellular uptake was predominant when SRB was applied in the water formulation and in the commercial ointment as seen by a homogenous polyclonal distribution in the *stratum corneum* (Figure 7.1). Strongly fluorescent, relatively broad transversal SRB labeled regions could be detected in some samples exposed to the commercial ointment. These were also detected in samples exposed to the MO and PT based cubic phases and is believed to correspond to deposition of the formulation in skin wrinkles.





**Figure 7.1.** Cutaneous distribution of sulforhodamine B (SRB, **a**), following topical application in an aqueous solution (b) and a MO-based lipid cubic phase (**c**). Image plane  $323 \times 323 \mu$ m.

When SRB was applied in cubic phases, it was also found in a finer network of microfissures, enclosing clusters of corneocytes and thinner thread like structures. Similar microstructures, separating clusters of 3 to 10 corneocytes, have previously been described as a potential penetration pathway from lipid based formulations in mouse skin, and has been referred to as the intercluster pathway [149, 172]. When SRB was applied in the cubic phases it penetrated relatively deep into these fissures although their dimension decreased with depth. SRB was detected below 30  $\mu$ m in 50% of the samples treated with the MObased cubic formulations and in approximately 70% of the samples exposed to the PT-based cubic phases. Consequently, the intercluster pathway might be a less resistant route for relatively deep deposition of hydrophilic drugs in the skin. It is possible that this pathway is favored by some lipid-based delivery systems.

In conclusion, the previously reported improved delivery of hydrophilic drugs using cubic phases was confirmed. In addition, skin distribution data obtained by TPM indicates that SRB is taken up via micro-fissures in the *stratum corneum*, which could act as a reservoir for continuous release of drugs to the surrounding lipid domain of the *stratum corneum* and to the deeper skin layers.

# 7.2 Accumulation of FITC near stratum corneum – visualizing epidermal distribution of a strong sensitizer using two-photon microscopy (Paper II)

To trigger an immunological response a hapten must penetrate the skin and form immunogenic hapten-protein complexes (Figure 3.1); however, where exact this happens and the nature of relevant hapten targets has not been elucidated. The aim in Paper II was to compare the cutaneous uptake and distribution of a reactive hapten and a non-reactive non-sensitizing structural analogue. The two investigated compounds were, FITC and fluorescein (Figure 3.3). The sensitization capacity of FITC and fluorescein was investigated in the murine LLNA and the cutaneous and percutaneous absorption were investigated *in vitro* using excised human skin, combining diffusion cells, confocal and TPM.



**Figure 7.2.** LLNA dose response curves for FITC ( $\Delta$ , EC3 = 0.002%) and fluorescein (O). The latter was found to be a non-sensitizer up to the highest tested concentration of 25% (**a**). Confocal image of FITC exposed cryosectioned skin sample (**b**, scale bar = 50 µm). Non-invasive TPM visualization of the cutaneous distribution of fluorescein (**c**) and FITC (**d**) in excised human skin (image plane =  $179 \times 179 \mu$ m).

The results revealed that FITC was an extreme sensitizer whereas fluorescein was a weak or non-sensitizer up to the highest tested concentration (30%, w/v) in the LLNA (Figure 7.2). Though an extreme sensitizer, only small amounts of FITC seemed to penetrate the viable compartments of the skin (Figure 7.2). While fluorescein readily penetrated the skin, FITC accumulated at the surface, in the *stratum corneum*. A similar distribution could be seen in confocal images of cryosectioned FITC and fluorescein treated samples. Interestingly, FITC was also detected relatively deep into the skin inside hair follicles, in the cryosectioned samples.

It is likely that the reduced uptake of FITC is due to conjugation to macromolecules in the stratum corneum. Based on these results one could speculate that the limited fraction of the applied dose reaching the viable tissue is enough to trigger an immunologic reaction. Alternatively, it is possible that Langerhans cells in the boundary between the viable epidermis and *stratum corneum* could intercept hapten protein complexes formed in the *stratum corneum*. A third alternative is that uptake via the hair follicles could play an important alternative way for some haptens to enter the skin.

In conclusion, it was found that, although FITC is an extreme sensitizer in the LLNA, it does easily penetrate the skin barrier. Based on these results it is unclear if only low amount of compound reaching the viable epidermis is enough to trigger an immune reaction or if alternative mechanisms, e.g. follicular uptake, can explain the sensitization potency of FITC.

# 7.3 A study of the enhanced sensitizing capacity of a contact allergen in lipid vesicle formulations (Paper III)

The introduction of nano-sized materials in topical products has lead to many important improvements but also some questions regarding adverse health effects. Recent research indicates that the sensitization potency of haptens increases when applied in vesicle based delivery systems [173, 174]. The aim in Paper III was to study the variations in the sensitization potency and skin penetration of the fluorescent model hapten RBITC (Figure 3.3) when applied in combination with micro- and nano-scale vesicles (ethosomes) and in an ethanol in water (Et:W) control solution. The sensitization potency was studied *in vivo* using

a modified non-pooled murine LLNA and the skin penetration and percutaneous absorption was analyzed *ex vivo* using diffusion cells in combination with TPM. Nano-scale vesicles (< 100 nm) and micro-scale vesicles (> 1  $\mu$ m) were prepared and analyzed as described in chapter 4.

The modified LLNA with non-pooled lymph nodes (Figure 7.3) revealed an almost 5-fold increase in the lymph node cell proliferative response when RBITC was applied in a vesicle formulation ( $3579 \pm 1074 \text{ dpm}$ ) compared to when it was applied in a Et:W solution ( $643 \pm 334 \text{ dpm}$ ). There was also a significant, but small, increase in the lymph node cell proliferative response when RBITC was applied in Et:W compared to the negative control ( $409 \pm 139 \text{ dpm}$ ), i.e. an empty vesicle formulation.

When the sensitization potency of RBITC was investigated in two structurally different vesicle systems, i.e. in nano-scale and micro-scale vesicles, it was slightly increased (p < 0.05) in the micro-scale vesicles (4913 ± 1551 dpm) compared to the nano-scale vesicles (3146 ± 837 dpm). A potential explanation for the difference between the micro- and nano-scale vesicle formulation could be variations in the concentration of POPC rather than the structural differences of the vesicles. It was found that approximately 20 % of the lipid fraction was lost during the extrusion process, thus the actual lipid concentration was 20 % lower in the nano-scale formulation compared to the micro-scale formulation tested in the LLNA. This assumption is supported by previous results by Madsen et al showing that the sensitizing potency of isoeugenol is related to the concentration of POPC in the formulation [174]. The overall conclusion from the LLNA experiments was that the POPC-based vesicle formulations significantly increase the sensitization potency of RBITC, but that the size or the structure of the vesicles has a less significant effect.



**Figure 7.3.** Non-pooled local lymph node assays, demonstrating the relative sensitization potency of RBITC in a nano-scale ethosomal formulation compared to an Et:W solution (**a**) and nano-scale compared to a micro-scale ethosomal formulation (**b**).

Initial measurement of the percutaneous absorption of RBITC did not indicate any difference between the vesicle based formulation and the Et:W solution. However, TPM revealed that both nano-scale and the micro-scale lipid vesicles increased the epidermal uptake of RBITC compared to the Et:W solution (Figure 7.4). Specifically, the signal was significantly increased between a depth of 32 to 88  $\mu$ m, when RBITC was applied in nano-and micro-scale ethosomes compared to the Et:W solution. The result indicates that the observed variations in the sensitization potency of RBITC between the vesicle formulations and the Et:W solution is at least partly a consequence of variations in the cutaneous uptake of the hapten.



**Figure 7.4.** Epidermal distribution of RBITC following topical application in a nano-scale vesicle formulation (**a**), in a micro-scale vesicle formulation (**b**) and in an ethanol:water control solution (**c**).

There was no difference in the cutaneous absorption from the two vesicle formulations. A likely explanation for this is that the vesicles are disrupted on the skin surface and that the size therefor only has a minor effect. It is possible that the free lipid molecules act as a penetration enhancers, i.e. by interacting with the lipid bilayers altering the solubility or diffusion coefficient of RBITC in the SC or by increasing the vehicle to *stratum corneum* partitioning coefficient.

In conclusion, the results presented in Paper III, shows that the sensitization potency of RBITC increases when applied in nano and micro-scale ethosomes compared to an Et:W solution. In combination with the results by Madsen et al this implies a general increase in the sensitization potency of haptens applied in vesicle formulations. However, nano-scale vesicles do not seems to have any increased adverse effect compared to larger micron-scale vesicles. The sensitization enhancing effect of the vesicle formulations is likely related to an improved penetration of the haptens from these vehicles. Still, further studies are needed before a more general conclusion can be drawn regarding the risk of being sensitized in combination with exposure to vesicle based formulations.

# 7.4 Caged Fluorescent Haptens Reveal the Generation of Cryptic Epitopes in Allergic Contact Dermatitis (Paper IV)

The location of hapten protein targets (e.g. intra cellular, membrane bound or extra cellular proteins) and the molecular identity of the immunogenic hapten-protein complexes and corresponding epitopes have not been elucidated. In Paper IV, a group of caged fluorescent compounds, i.e. bromobinanes (Figure 3.3), were topically applied and followed using a combination of fluorescence microscopy, proteomics and mass spectrometry, with the aim to identify their protein targets.

It was presumed that the thiol reactive bromobimanes were potential sensitizers. However, before any further studies could be conducted, this had to be verified experimentally. Thus, skin sensitization potency of mBBR, dBBR and a non-reactive negative control compound, syn-(methyl,methyl)bimane, was tested in the LLNA (Figure 7.5 a). The LLNA result revealed that both mBBR (EC3 = 0.12%) and dBBR (EC3 = 0.17%) were strong sensitizers while syn-(methyl,methyl)bimane was a non-sensitizer up to a concentration of 2.5%.

The localization of hapten targets was initially visualized by TPM, which revealed that the bromobimanes reacted with proteins or peptides in *stratum corneum* (Figure 7.5). With a relatively high concentration of the hapten in combination with a high abundance of nucleophilic amino acids, peptides and partially degraded proteins in the *stratum corneum* [175, 176] it is not surprising to find extensive hapten-protein conjugations in this skin layer. However, the immunological implication for the formation of hapten protein complexes in *stratum corneum* is unclear. TPM imaging also revealed that the bromobimanes penetrated and reacted with cells in the viable epidermis. A bit surprising, the bromobimanes did not primarily react with the suprabasal cells, as seen by a relatively weak fluorescence signal in the stratum spinosum. Instead, TPM images indicated that basal cells were the primary targets in the viable epidermis. This result was supported by confocal imaging of cryosectioned bimane treated skin samples.



**Figure 7.5.** LLNA dose response curves for mBBr (EC3 = 0.12%,  $\Delta$ ), dBBr (EC3 = 0.17%, **O**) and syn(methyl,methyl)bimane (×). Three-dimensional visualization of the epidermal distribution of mBBr (**b**) and dBBR (**c**) protein targets. Optical z-cross section of a mBBr exposed sample (**d**) and a dBBr exposed sample (**e**). Lateral distribution of mBBr (**f**, z = 52 µm) and dBBr (**g**, z = 62 µm) in or adjacent to the basal cell layer.

Initially, it was suspected that the fluorescent cells were epidermal Langerhans cells. However an immunohistochemical analysis of cryosectioned skin samples using CD1a, K5 and K14 antibodies, excluded the Langerhans cells and indicated that the bimane labelled cells corresponded to basal cell keratinocytes. This was later supported by both western blot and mass spectrometry analysis. Another observation made in both the TPM and confocal images, was that the bromobimanes did not label all cells in the basal cell layer. Instead clusters of bimane-labelled cells were detected. The clustered pattern led to a hypothesis that the labelled cells might be epidermal stem cells, which have been shown to reside in stem cell niches, i.e. clusters in the basal cell layer [177, 178]. The exact reason for patchy distribution of the bimane labelled cells was not further investigated, thus the reason for the irregular lateral distribution of the bimane labelled cells remains speculative.

To identify the protein targets, protein extracts from skin samples incubated with bimane formulations were prepared and separated by SDS-PAGE. The strongest fluorescent band from the mBBr treated sample had a molecular weight of approx. 60 kDa and the strongest fluorescent band in the dBBr treated sample had a molecular weight of approx. 110 kDa. In combination with the results from the TPM and the Immunohistochemical analysis, demonstrating that basal keratinocytes were hapten targets, it was speculated that the protein band around 60 kDa corresponded to K5 (58 kDa) and that the band at around 100 kDa could be cross-linked K5 or K14 monomers (100 or 116 kDa), alternatively cross-linked K5/K14 heterodimers (108 kDa). A Western Blot confirmed this hypothesis.

The most intense protein bands in the SDS-PAGE gels were excised and analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry. A Mascot search corroborated the previous identification of K5 and K14 as hapten targets in the skin. K5 was positively identified in the 58 kDa band from the analysis of the mBBr treated sample and both K5 and K14 were present in the excised band from the dBBr treated sample. In addition, manual interpretation of the tandem mass spectrometry data revealed a tryptic fragment (V48 to R62, Figure 7.6) with a haptenated cysteine residue (C54). Subsequent, analysis of the fragmentation pattern of the MS/MS spectra confirmed the modification on C54.



**Figure 7.6.** Tandem mass spectra of the tryptic fragment (V48 to R62) of keratin 5 with a mBBr modified cysteine (C54).

In conclusion, a combination of caged fluorescent haptens, fluorescent microscopy, immunohistochemistry and proteomics led to the identification basal keratinocytes and specifically the keratins K5 and K14 as potential hapten targets in human skin. A hapten modification of the residue C54 on K5 was also identified. The result highlights the role of the keratinocytes and the keratins in ACD.

# 7.5 The pilosebaceous unit – a phthalate-induced highway to skin sensitization (Paper V)

### 8 General Discussion

The development of efficient epicutaneous drug delivery systems rely on a fundamental understanding of the skin barrier and its interaction with topically applied compounds and formulations. This is equally important when evaluating biologic effects following topical exposure to harmful xenobiotics, e.g. skin sensitizers. A central component in all research and development are tools to measure and analyze specific processes and effects. TPM offers unique possibilities to study the relative uptake, penetration pathways, skin targets and depot effects of topically applied fluorescent compounds relatively deep into intact skin samples, giving valuable information about the interactions between the skin and xenobiotics. The application of TPM within the work of this thesis has provided new insights in drug delivery as well as mechanisms involved in contact allergy, as will be discussed below. In addition, a discussion of the methods chosen will be provided, along with a final conclusion and some future perspectives.

#### 8.1 New insights in drug delivery

The improved cutaneous uptake from lipid cubic phases applied to human skin offers clinical applications due to the penetration enhancing effect of these formulations. In this work, TPM provided supplementary data regarding the cutaneous distribution and skin penetration pathways. A putative mechanistic explanation for the observed penetration enhancing effect of the cubic phases could be proposed based on the penetration pathways observed. In a broader perspective, better insight into drug uptake and distribution using TPM could improve interpretation of pharmacokinetic effects and support in future development and improvements of topical formulations. It could also assist in the choice of vehicle depending on target tissue. Specifically, cosmetic products are generally intended to target, either the skin surface or the *stratum corneum*. Penetration to the deeper skin layer is often undesirable and vehicle induced penetration enhancing effects might increase the risk of adverse health effects.

#### 8.2 New insights in contact allergy

#### 8.2.1 Vehicle effects on the sensitization potency of haptens

The LLNA revealed significant vehicle induced variations in sensitization potency of haptens. Specifically, the results showed that isothiocyanates are extreme sensitizers when applied in combination with phthalate (DBP) but non- or weak sensitizers when applied in e.g. DMSO.

There is a general correlation between bioavailability and biological effects. However, FITC did not seem to penetrate the skin when applied in combination with DBP (Paper II), at least not via the *stratum corneum*. An alternative penetration pathway via the hair follicles was hypothesized based on confocal microscopy of cryosectioned human skin samples exposed to FITC. This pathway was later clearly identified as major contributor to the cutaneous and percutaneous absorption of both RBITC and FITC when applied in combination with DBP *in vivo* in mouse (Paper V). Compared to the absorption of RBITC in acetone and DMSO, the target specific delivery via the PSU appears as a likely explanation for the increased sensitization potency of isothiocyanates in the LLNA.

In Paper III it was found that the increased sensitization potency of RBITC correlated with an improved general cutaneous absorption in excised human skin, but no specific uptake via the hair follicles was detected. A preliminary experiment in connection with the study presented in Paper V, indicated that ethosomal formulations also improves the uptake of RBITC into the pilosebaceous units compared to the control vehicle, *in vivo* in mouse (data not shown). Thus there seems to be a connection between follicular absorption and sensitization potency also in this case.

The PSUs have traditionally not been considered to play any significant role in the uptake of topically applied compounds. However, new studies indicate that follicular transport has been underestimated and hair follicles have become attractive targets in epicutaneous drug delivery [24, 28, 182, 183]. The PSU have so far not been widely discussed as a mediator of CHS reactions, although it could be regarded as an ideal route for hapten to penetrate the viable compartments of the skin, bypassing the *stratum corneum*. In addition, the surrounding tissue has a relatively high abundance of immune cells, i.e. dendritic cells, T-cells and macrophages [25, 26]. The PSU is also the skins largest reservoir of stem cells [9] and it has a closely connecting extensive network of perifollicular capillaries, enabling

effective systemic resorption of compounds absorbed via the PSU [28]. Moreover, compounds stuck in the follicle orifice will likely reside in the skin for longer time periods compared to compounds trapped in the *stratum corneum* [24]. The reservoir capacity of the PSU could have a role in e.g. primary ACD reactions [184]. It is also likely that repeated contact with non-sensitizing doses of hapten accumulating in the PSUs eventually leads to sensitizing concentrations in the skin. Repeated exposure is an important predisposing factor in ACD [185].

Being a well-known penetration enhancer, DMSO was chosen as one of the control vehicles in Paper V. Considering its capacity to improve the uptake of topically applied compounds, it was initially surprising to find that RBITC did not induce any proliferative response in the LLNA in DMSO. It was even more surprising that RBITC did not penetrate the skin more when applied in this vehicle. A reactivity assay suggested that DMSO provokes a rapid conjugation of RBITC to proteins in the upper *stratum corneum*, which limits the uptake of RBITC into the skin. Thus, vehicle induced variations in reactivity towards skin surface proteins should be considered as a regulating factor when exploring the uptake of reactive compounds like sensitizers.

Taken together, the results indicate that isothiocyanates, due to their reactivity, do not readily penetrate the skin directly via the *stratum corneum*, except perhaps if applied in very high concentrations. Thus these compounds need an alternative route of entry into the skin to induce an allergic response; e.g. via shunts or via damaged skin. Uptake via the PSUs seems to be facilitated in combination with DBP. The results also reveal that vehicle dependent hapten reactivity towards *stratum corneum* proteins regulates the uptake and thus the potency of the hapten.

It is important to point out that modifications in the chemical composition of the vehicle can have other consequences, which might influence the potency of the haptens. For example phthalate or POPC induced adjuvant effects, i.e. induction of inflammatory mediators, have not been investigated here, and can therefore not be ruled out.

Regardless of the mechanism behind the vehicle-induced variations, the results emphasise the importance to consider formulation effects when evaluating the potency of skin sensitizer. Variation in the sensitizing capacity due to formulation effects should be

considered when performing risk evaluation based on the LLNA EC3 value. Similarly, vehicles effects should also be considered when performing patch tests of ACD patients.

#### 8.2.2 Identification of hapten targets

One of the great challenges in the research related to contact allergy is to identify immunogenic hapten-protein complexes and the nature of the modification of the protein targets. Considering the amount of protein targets in the skin, this might be like looking for a needle in a haystack. In Paper IV, a combination of caged fluorescent haptens, TPM, proteomics and mass spectrometry led to the first published identification of a haptenation site in human skin tissue. The thiol reactive bromobimanes specifically reacted with basal keratinocytes and the keratins K5 and K14. Furthermore C54 on K5 was identified as a hapten target.

Structural and chemical variations in the differentiating epidermal keratinocytes could be one reason for the specific reactivity of the bromobimanes with the basal keratinocytes. A reactivity assay revealed that bromobimanes readily reacts with thiols but not with disulfides. Thus, hapten targets in the skin should be expected to be free thiols. The relatively high abundance of available free thiols in the basal compared to the suprabasal keratinocytes, where the sulfhydryles are concealed due to extensive bundling of the keratins and cross linking of the cysteines, could lead to a more intense labelling of the basal cell layer. A similar localisation have previously been observed in studies on the epidermal distribution of DNCB, another thiol reactive skin sensitizer [186].

Based on the results in Paper IV, further investigations has been conducted *in vitro* using cultured human keratinocytes [187]. Incubation with the bromobimanes led to a rapid internalization of the haptens and labelling of structures resembling the keratin intermediate filaments. In addition, the keratinocytes responded by forming fluorescent membrane vesicles (blebs). It could be shown that the vesicles contained both haptenated K5 and K14. The specific labelling of C54 in K5 could also be confirmed. As C54 is part of the head-region of K5, which binds to desmoplakin and the desmosomes, an interesting speculation would be if haptenation could lead to malfunction of the desmosome complex and subsequently the keratinocyte. The outcome of this malfunction could perhaps result in

the release of non-self immunogenic keratin-epitopes in membrane vesicles; however, this has yet to be demonstrated *in vivo*.

The new restrictions of the use of animal based toxicity assays, e.g. using the LLNA for predicting the sensitization potency of haptens, has led to an urgent need for new *in vitro* based assays, as discussed in chapter 3. Thus, the results obtained within this project have stimulated to further investigation whether the keratinocyte response, i.e. the blebbing, could be used as an alternative *in vitro* assay to test the sensitization potency of skin sensitizers [188].

#### 8.3 The choice of skin model

In four out of five papers included in this thesis, skin penetration experiments were performed *in vitro* using excised human skin, obtained from breast reduction surgery. The skin was stored at -70 °C up to 3 month before it was used. Penetration studies using TPM were carried out using full thickness skin samples and permeation experiments were conducted using heat separate epidermal sheets. In either case, viability was not maintained in these assays. This is generally not an issue, assuming uptake is a passive diffusive process and *stratum corneum* being the rate limiting membrane. However, some artefacts e.g. due to heat-separation cannot be ruled out. Evaluating the integrity of the isolated epidermal sheets, e.g. measuring electrical resistance, might be appropriate, but has not been performed in these studies. Reconstructed skin is an interesting viable alternative; however cases of deviations in permeability compared to isolated human skin has been reported. Moreover, reconstructed skin models do not include shunts pathways and potential effects of the circulatory system. Although mouse models (Paper V), provides *in vivo* setting, differences in the architecture of mouse and human skin, e.g thickness and follicle density, must be considered.

#### 8.4 Two-photon microscopy of the skin, benefits and limitations

TPM offers a unique possibility to explore the interactions between the skin and xenobiotics, e.g. skin sensitizers, and cutaneous immunological reactions in or close to *in vivo* conditions. It is also an interesting method to study topical drug delivery. TPM provides information, which would be difficult to extract from more traditional techniques, e.g.

regarding local absorption and targeted delivery. Compared to confocal microscopy, TPM provides an improved imaging depth and a more straightforward approach to multicolor imaging. Multiple fluorophores, both endogenous and exogenous, and single harmonic generation can be visualized using a single laser. This facilitates imaging of the skin morphology when e.g. studying the absorption of topically applied compounds.

However, imaging depth is not unlimited and lack of knowledge regarding signal losses makes absolute quantification more or less impossible. In addition, high concentration of fluorophores at the skin surface, which is a common situation when studying the cutaneous absorption of topically applied compounds, seems to generate 'ghost' signals which can complicate the imaging of the deeper skin layers. Furthermore, the vertical resolution is generally better when imaging cryo-sectioned skin samples, though at the cost of a reduced field of view and an increased risk for artifacts and sample contamination. A drawback using this technique is that only fluorescent model drugs or haptens can be visualized. Antibodies can be used on sectioned skin, but their utility is limited in thick samples.

An important limitation of the TPM technique to analyze the cutaneous absorption of topically applied compounds is the incapacity to determine absolute fluorophore concentrations in tissue. Only relative estimations of the concentration of the same compound at a specific depth can be done. It is difficult to e.g. compare the cutaneous absorption of two different compounds or the relative concentration of a single compound at to different depth in the skin. One possible solution to this problem is the combination of TPM and fluorescence correlation spectroscopy, i.e. a technique referred to as two-photon fluorescence correlation microscopy. By measuring the fluctuations of fluorescent signal in the subfemtoliter two-photon excitation volume it is possible to determine both absolute concentrations and diffusion constants of fluorescent molecules in in the skin [189].

Despite the limitations mentioned above, TPM has opened up a unique opportunity to study biological processes in real time in living animals. *In vivo* and intra vital TPM has consequently attracted a lot of interest in the last years, in particularly within the field of immunology. The skin penetration studies included in thesis were performed either *in vitro* using excised human skin or combining *in vivo* exposure and *ex vivo* imaging (Paper V). While the experimental design used in e.g. Paper V is practical and provide the possibility to

image several samples at the same occasion, it does not provide a dynamic view of what is happening in the skin. Thus for a more detailed and complete picture of the processes related to exposure to skin sensitizers and the faith of a hapten in a living system, *in vivo* and intra vital techniques should be further investigated.

#### 8.5 Conclusions and future outlooks

In this thesis, TPM has been used to analyze the cutaneous absorption and distribution of a model drug and a series of model skin sensitizers. A potential mechanistic explanation for the penetration enhancing effect of lipid cubic phases has been proposed and the first confirmed hapten amino acid target in skin has been identified based on studies using TPM. Moreover, vehicle induced variations in the sensitization potency of haptens has been revealed in the LLNA. Specifically, the increased sensitization potency of isothiocyanates applied in combination with phthalates could be linked to a PSU-targeted delivery of the haptens. It could also be shown that vehicles alters hapten reactivity to *stratum corneum* proteins and that this can lead to significant variations in sensitization potency. Together, these results demonstrate some of the potentials of implementing TPM into investigations of the interactions between the skin and xenobiotics.

In the future *in vivo* and *intra vital* techniques should be further investigated to study processes related to exposure to skin sensitizers and the faith of haptens in a living systems. Specifically, some of the findings presented in this thesis should be interesting to investigate further in an *in vivo* model, e.g. the uptake caged fluorescent compounds. Moreover, improvements in two-photon-fluorescence correlation spectroscopy have the potential to give a new perspective on the interactions between xenobiotics and the skin. The possibility to determine exact concentrations and diffusion constants of model drugs in specific regions of the skin or other organs *in vivo* could be valuable e.g. in drug delivery studies.

In conclusion, the work presented in this thesis contributes to the general understanding of the mechanisms involved in the cutaneous absorption of topically applied drugs. It also puts contact allergy in a new focus, using TPM to image cutaneous uptake and distribution of haptens and their protein targets in the skin.

### 9 Acknowledgements

#### I would like to thank everybody who contributed and supported me throughout this work.

First of all I would like to thank my supervisors Charlotte and Marica for all your support and enthusiasm during these years and for making all the hard work fun. Thanks for all the efforts you have put in to all the projects, the interesting discussions, for the days in the lab and for all the things you taught me about immunology, microscopy and skin research. I would also like to thank for all the input during the writing of this thesis.

I would also specially like to thank my co-supervisor Ann-Therese for all your support and good advices, for everything you have taught me during these years and for all the work you put into the projects, the dermatochemistry group and the Skin Center making this research possible.

My co-supervisor Sven for advises and for helping me out when having analysis problems.

Kristina, my examiner, thanks for your support and guidance during these years and for your comments on this manuscript.

Kristin, thanks for all the interesting discussions and for introducing me into the field of dermatochemistry.

Maria and Julia for all the help with the microscopes.

Susanne, Anders and Gabriella for support at EBM.

Christina for all the work you put in providing us with fresh skin samples.

Martin for helping me with the statistics, and Ellinore for teaching me how to use the cryostat.

All my co-authors and collaborators in the different projects included in this thesis: Anna-Lena, Annette, Brigitte, Gunnar, Johanna, Jakob, Jörgen, Kerstin, Klaus, Sofia and Stina. It has been a pleasure working with you.

My colleagues and friends in the dermatochemistry group:

Anna, Bengt-Arne, Ida, Johanna, Johanna, Kattis, Lars, Lina, Moa, Niamh, Petri, Staffan, Tamara, Therese och Ulrika.

And all the colleagues at Chalmers.

Financial support for this work was obtained from the Faculty of Science, at the University of Gothenburg, through the research platform 'Göteborg Science Centre for Molecular Skin Research'. It is now a Centre for Skin Research (SkinResGU), providing access to research infrastructure and interdisciplinary collaborations. I would like thank all the colleagues in SkinResGU for valuable discussions and all the interesting meetings.

And finally I would like to thank my family, and most of all Claire and Louise. For your endless support and encouragement and the love you give me.

### **10** References

- [1] Rook, A. and Burns, T., Rook's textbook of dermatology. 7th ed., Blackwell Science, Malden, 2004.
- [2] Thyssen, J.P., Linneberg, A., Menne, T., and Johansen, J.D., The epidemiology of contact allergy in the general population Prevalence and main findings. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2007, 57(5): 287-299.
- [3] Marieb, E.N. and Hoehn, K., Human anatomy & physiology. 8th ed., Benjamin Cummings, San Francisco, 2010.
- [4] Goldsmith, L.A., Physiology, biochemistry, and molecular biology of the skin. 2nd ed., Oxford University Press, New York, 1991.
- [5] Proksch, E., Brandner, J.M., and Jensen, J.M., The skin: An indispensable barrier. *Experimental Dermatology*, 2008, 17(12): 1063-1072.
- [6] Elias, P.M. and Friend, D.S., The permeability barrier in mammalian epidermis. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 1975, 65(1): 180-191.
- [7] Romani, N., Holzmann, S., Tripp, C.H., Koch, F., and Stoitzner, P., Langerhans cells - Dendritic cells of the epidermis. *APMIS*, 2003, 111(7-8): 725-740.
- [8] Toebak, M.J., Gibbs, S., Bruynzeel, D.P., Scheper, R.J., and Rustemeyer, T., Dendritic cells: Biology of the skin. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2009, 60(1): 2-20.
- [9] Fuchs, E., Scratching the surface of skin development. *Nature*, 2007, 445(7130): 834-842.
- [10] Candi, E., Schmidt, R., and Melino, G., The cornified envelope: A model of cell death in the skin. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 2005, 6(4): 328-340.
- [11] Elias, P.M., Epidermal lipids, barrier function, and desquamation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1983, 80(Suppl.): 44s-49s.
- [12] Bouwstra, J., Gooris, G., and Ponec, M., The lipid organisation of the skin barrier: Liquid and crystalline domains coexist in lamellar phases. *Journal of Biological Physics*, 2002, 28(2): 211-223.
- [13] Madison, K.C., Barrier function of the skin: "La Raison d'Etre" of the epidermis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2003, 121(2): 231-241.
- [14] Wertz, P.W., Lipids and barrier function of the skin. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, *Supplement*, 2000(208): 7-11.
- [15] Bragulla, H.H. and Homberger, D.G., Structure and functions of keratin proteins in simple, stratified, keratinized and cornified epithelia. *Journal of Anatomy*, 2009, 214(4): 516-559.
- [16] Moll, R., Divo, M., and Langbein, L., The human keratins: Biology and pathology. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*, 2008, 129(6): 705-733.
- [17] Eichner, R., Sun, T.T., and Aebi, U., The role of keratin subfamilies and keratin pairs in the formation of human epidermal intermediate filaments. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 1986, 102(5): 1767-1777.
- [18] Kouklis, P.D., Hutton, E., and Fuchs, E., Making a connection: Direct binding between keratin intermediate filaments and desmosomal proteins. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 1994, 127(4): 1049-1060.
- [19] Steinert, P.M., Structure, function, and dynamics of keratin intermediate filaments. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1993, 100(6): 729-734.
- [20] Sun, T.T., Eichner, R., and Nelson, W.G., Keratin classes: Molecular markers for different types of epithelial differentiation. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1983, 81(1 Suppl.).

- [21] Sun, T.T. and Green, H., Keratin filaments of cultured human epidermal cells. Formation of intermolecular disulfide bonds during terminal differentiation. *Journal* of *Biological Chemistry*, 1978, 253(6): 2053-2060.
- [22] Harding, C.R., Long, S., Richardson, J., Rogers, J., Zhang, Z., Bush, A., and Rawlings, A.V., The cornified cell envelope: An important marker of stratum corneum maturation in healthy and dry skin. *International Journal of Cosmetic Science*, 2003, 25(4): 157-167.
- [23] Kalinin, A.E., Kajava, A.V., and Steinert, P.M., Epithelial barrier function: Assembly and structural features of the cornified cell envelope. *Bioessays*, 2002, 24(9): 789-800.
- [24] Lademann, J., Richter, H., Schaefer, U.F., Blume-Peytavi, U., Teichmann, A., Otberg, N., and Sterry, W., Hair follicles - A long-term reservoir for drug delivery. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, 2006, 19(4): 232-236.
- [25] Christoph, T., Müller-Röver, S., Audring, H., Tobin, D.J., Hermes, B., Cotsarelis, G., Rückert, R., and Paus, R., The human hair follicle immune system: Cellular composition and immune privilege. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 2000, 142(5): 862-873.
- [26] Moresi, J.M. and Horn, T.D., Distribution of Langerhans cells in human hair follicle. *Journal of Cutaneous Pathology*, 1997, 24(10): 636-640.
- [27] Patzelt, A., Knorr, F., Blume-Peytavi, U., Sterry, W., and Lademann, J., Hair follicles, their disorders and their opportunities. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms*, 2008, 5(2): 173-181.
- [28] Knorr, F., Lademann, J., Patzelt, A., Sterry, W., Blume-Peytavi, U., and Vogt, A., Follicular transport route Research progress and future perspectives. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 2009, 71(2): 173-180.
- [29] Karlberg, A.T., Bergström, M.A., Börje, A., Luthman, K., and Nilsson, J.L.G., Allergic contact dermatitis - Formation, structural requirements, and reactivity of skin sensitizers. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2008, 21(1): 53-69.
- [30] Lepoittevin, J.P., Basketer, D.A., Goosens, A., and Karlberg, A.T., Allergic contact dermatitis : the molecular basis. Springer, Berlin, London, 1998.
- [31] De Groot, A.C., Fatal attractiveness: The shady side of cosmetics. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 1998, 16(1): 167-179.
- [32] De Groot, A.C. and Frosch, P.J., Adverse reactions to fragrances. A clinical review. *Contact Dermatitis*, 1997, 36(2): 57-86.
- [33] Dickel, H., Kuss, O., Schmidt, A., and Diepgen, T.L., Occupational relevance of positive standard patch-test results in employed persons with an initial report of an occupational skin disease. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 2002, 75(6): 423-434.
- [34] Andersen, K.E., Occupational issues of allergic contact dermatitis. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 2003, 76(5): 347-350.
- [35] Gruvberger, B. and Bruze, M., Preservatives. *Clinics in Dermatology*, 1997, 15(4): 493-497.
- [36] Karlsson, I., Chemical and Dermatological Aspects of UV-absorbing Compounds, Doctoral Thesis, 2011, University of Gothenburg
- [37] Niklasson, I.B., Broo, K., Jonsson, C., Luthman, K., and Karlberg, A.T., Reduced sensitizing capacity of epoxy resin systems: A structure-activity relationship study. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2009, 22(11): 1787-1794.
- [38] Vocanson, M., Hennino, A., Roziéres, A., Poyet, G., and Nicolas, J.F., Effector and regulatory mechanisms in allergic contact dermatitis. *Allergy: European Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 2009, 64(12): 1699-1714.
- [39] Stoitzner, P., Holzmann, S., McLellan, A.D., Ivarsson, L., Stössel, H., Kapp, M., Kämmerer, U., Douillard, P., Kämpgen, E., Koch, F., Saeland, S., and Romani, N., Visualization and characterization of migratory Langerhans cells in murine skin and lymph nodes by antibodies against langerin/CD207. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2003, 120(2): 266-274.
- [40] Weinlich, G., Heine, M., Stossel, H., Zanella, M., Stoitzner, P., Ortner, U., Smolle, J., Koch, F., Sepp, N.T., Schuler, G., and Romani, N., Entry into afferent lymphatics and maturation in situ of migrating murine cutaneous dendritic cells. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1998, 110(4): 441-448.
- [41] Kimber, I., Cumberbatch, M., Dearman, R.J., Bhushan, M., and Griffiths, C.E.M., Cytokines and chemokines in the initiation and regulation of epidermal Langerhans cell mobilization. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 2000, 142(3): 401-412.
- [42] Weltzien, H.U., Moulon, C., Martin, S., Padovan, E., Hartmann, U., and Kohler, J., T cell immune responses to haptens. Structural models for allergic and autoimmune reactions. *Toxicology*, 1996, 107(2): 141-151.
- [43] Rustemeyer, T., van Hoogstraten, I.M.W., von Blomberg, B.M.E., and Scheper, R.J., Mechanisms in allergic contact dermatitis, in: Contact Dermatitis, Frosch, P.J., Menné, T., and Lepoittevin, J.-P., Springer Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 2006, p 11-43.
- [44] Akiba, H., Kehren, J., Ducluzeau, M.T., Krasteva, M., Horand, F., Kaiserlian, D., Kaneko, F., and Nicolas, J.F., Skin inflammation during contact hypersensitivity is mediated by early recruitment of CD8+ T cytotoxic 1 cells inducing keratinocyte apoptosis. *Journal of Immunology*, 2002, 168(6): 3079-3087.
- [45] Grabbe, S. and Schwarz, T., Immunoregulatory mechanisms involved in elicitation of allergic contact hypersensitivity. *Immunology Today*, 1998, 19(1): 37-44.
- [46] Bour, H., Peyron, E., Gaucherand, M., Garrigue, J.L., Desvignes, C., Kaiserlian, D., Revillard, J.P., and Nicolas, J.F., Major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted CD8+ T cells and class II-restricted CD4+ T cells, respectively, mediate and regulate contact sensitivity to dinitrofluorobenzene. *European Journal of Immunology*, 1995, 25(11): 3006-3010.
- [47] Karlberg, A.T., Baron, J., and Merk, H., Allergic Contact Dermatitis A Common Skin Disease Caused by Allergic Reactions to Chemicals in our Environment, in: Advances in Molecular Toxicology, Volume 2, Fishbein, J.C., Elsevier, Oxford, 2008, 87-121.
- [48] Landsteiner, K. and Jacobs, J., Studies on the Sensitization of Animals with Simple Chemical Compounds. *J Exp Med*, 1935, 61(5): 643-656.
- [49] Johansson, S., Limonene Hydrperoxide in Allergic Contact Dermaitis, Radical Formation, Sensitizing Capacity and Immunogenic Complex Formation, Doctoral Thesis, 2009, University of Gothenburg
- [50] Thierse, H.J., Gamerdinger, K., Junkes, C., Guerreiro, N., and Weltzien, H.U., T cell receptor (TCR) interaction with haptens: Metal ions as non-classical haptens. *Toxicology*, 2005, 209(2): 101-107.
- [51] Bråred Christensson, J., Clinical and Experimental Studies on Oxidized Fragrance Terpenes as Contact Allergens, Doctoral Thesis, 2009, University of Gothenburg
- [52] Hagvall, L., Formation of Skin Sensitizers from Fragrance Terpenes via Oxidative Activation Routes. Chemical analysis, Structure Elucidation and Experimental Sensitization Studies, Doctoral Thesis, 2009, University of Gothenburg
- [53] Sköld, M., Contact Allergy to Autoxidized Fragrance Terpenes, Chemical Characterization, Analysis, and Studies of Contact Allergenic Activity, Doctoral Thesis, 2005, University of Gothenburg

- [54] Andresen Berström, M., Bioactivation of Xenobiotics in the Skin. Mechanistic Investigations and Structure-Activity Relationship Studies of Alkene and Oxime Prohaptens in Contact Allergy, Doctoral Thesis, 2007, University of Gothenburg
- [55] Smith, C.K. and Hotchkiss, S.A.M., Xenobiotics as Skin Sensitizers: Metabolic Activation and Detoxication, and Protein-binding Mechanisms. in Allergic contact dermatitis : chemical and metabolic mechanisms. Taylor & Francis, London, 2001.
- [56] Samuelsson, K., Bergström, M.A., Jonsson, C.A., Westman, G., and Karlberg, A.T., Diphenylthiourea, a common rubber chemical, is bioactivated to potent skin sensitizers. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2011, 24(1): 35-44.
- [57] Fregert, S., Dahlquist, I., and Trulsson, L., Sensitization capacity of diphenylthiourea and phenylisothiocyanate. *Contact Dermatitis*, 1983, 9(1): 87-88.
- [58] Fregert, S., Trulson, L., and Zimerson, E., Contact allergic reactions to diphenylthiourea and phenylisothiocyanate in PVC adhesive tape. *Contact Dermatitis*, 1982, 8(1): 38-42.
- [59] Nakamura, T., Kawai, Y., Kitamoto, N., Osawa, T., and Kato, Y., Covalent modification of lysine residues by allyl isothiocyanate in physiological conditions: Plausible transformation of isothiocyanate from thiol to amine. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2009, 22(3): 536-542.
- [60] Hermanson, G.T., Bioconjugate techniques. Academic Press, San Diego/London, 1996.
- [61] Haugland, R.P., Handbook of Fluorescent Probes and Research Products. Ninth ed., Molecular Probes Inc, 2008.
- [62] Macatonia, S.E., Edwards, A.J., and Knight, S.C., Dendritic cells and the initiation of contact sensitivity to fluorescein isothiocyanate. *Immunology*, 1986, 59(4): 509-514.
- [63] Macatonia, S.E. and Knight, S.C., Dendritic cells and T cells transfer sensitization for delayed-type hypersensitivity after skin painting with contact sensitizer. *Immunology*, 1989, 66(1): 96-99.
- [64] Macatonia, S.E., Knight, S.C., Edwards, A.J., Griffiths, S., and Fryer, P., Localization of antigen on lymph node dendritic cells after exposure to the contact sensitizer fluorescein isothiocyanate. Functional and morphological studies. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 1987, 166(6): 1654-1667.
- [65] Kosower, E.M., Pazhenchevsky, B., Dodiuk, H., Kanety, H., and Faust, D., Bimanes.
  6. Reactive halogen derivatives of syn- and anti-1,5diazabicyclo[3.3.0]octadienediones (9,10-dioxabimanes). *Journal of Organic Chemistry*, 1981, 46(8): 1666-1673.
- [66] Radkowsky, A.E., Kosower, E.M., Eisenberg, D., and Goldberg, I., Bimanes. 18. (Haloalkyl)-1,5-diazabicyclo[3.3.0]octadienediones (halo-9,10-dioxabimanes): Sulfur "extraction" by syn-(1-bromoethyl,methyl)bimane. Glutathione "sulfide" from the tripeptide thiol, glutathione. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 1986, 108(15): 4532-4541.
- [67] Kosower, N.S., Kosower, E.M., Newton, G.L., and Ranney, H.M., Bimane fluorescent labels: Labeling of normal human red cells under physiological conditions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 1979, 76(7): 3382-3386.
- [68] Fricker, M.D. and Meyer, A.J., Confocal imaging of metabolism in vivo: Pitfalls and possibilities. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 2001, 52(356): 631-640.
- [69] Patton, W.F., A thousand points of light: The application of fluorescence detection technologies to two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and proteomics. *Electrophoresis*, 2000, 21(6): 1123-1144.

- [70] Meyer, A.J. and Fricker, M.D., Direct measurement of glutathione in epidermal cells of intact Arabidopsis roots by two-photon laser scanning microscopy. *Journal of Microscopy*, 2000, 198(3): 174-181.
- [71] Wright, S.K. and Viola, R.E., Evaluation of methods for the quantitation of cysteines in proteins. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1998, 265(1): 8-14.
- [72] Winters, R.A., Zukowski, J., Ercal, N., Matthews, R.H., and Spitz, D.R., Analysis of glutathione, glutathione disulfide, cysteine, homocysteine, and other biological thiols by high-performance liquid chromatography following derivatization by IV-(1-Pyrenyl)maleimide. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1995, 227(1): 14-21.
- [73] O'Keefe, D.O., Quantitative electrophoretic analysis of proteins labeled with monobromobimane. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1994, 222(1): 86-94.
- [74] Hedley, D.W. and Chow, S., Evaluation of methods for measuring cellular glutathione content using flow cytometry. *Cytometry*, 1994, 15(4): 349-358.
- [75] Mansoor, M.A., Svardal, A.M., and Ueland, P.M., Determination of the in vivo redox status of cysteine, cysteinylglycine, homocysteine, and glutathione in human plasma. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1992, 200(2): 218-229.
- [76] Fahey, R.C., Buschbacher, R.M., and Newton, G.L., The evolution of glutathione metabolism in phototrophic microorganisms. *Journal of Molecular Evolution*, 1987, 25(1): 81-88.
- [77] Cotgreave, I.A. and Moldéus, P., Methodologies for the application of monobromobimane to the simultaneous analysis of soluble and protein thiol components of biological systems. *Journal of Biochemical and Biophysical Methods*, 1986, 13(4-5): 231-249.
- [78] Newton, G.L., Dorian, R., and Fahey, R.C., Analysis of biological thiols: Derivatization with monobromobimane and separation by reverse-phase highperformance liquid chromatography. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1981, 114(2): 383-387.
- [79] Kligman, A.M., The identification of contact allergens by human assay. II. Factors influencing the induction and measurement of allergic contact dermatitis. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1966, 47(5): 375-392.
- [80] Kligman, A.M., The identification of contact allergens by human assay. 3. The maximization test: a procedure for screening and rating contact sensitizers. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1966, 47(5): 393-409.
- [81] Kligman, A.M., The identification of contact allergens by human assay. I. A critique of standard methods. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1966, 47(5): 369-374.
- [82] Magnusson, B. and Kligman, A.M., The identification of contact allergens by animal assay. The guinea pig maximization test. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 1969, 52(3): 268-276.
- [83] OECD, Guidline for the Testing of Chemicals No. 406. Skin Sensitisation. 1992.
- [84] Kimber, I., Hilton, J., and Weisenberger, C., The murine local lymph node assay for identification of contact allergens: A preliminary evaluation of in situ measurement of lymphocyte proliferation. *Contact Dermatitis*, 1989, 21(4): 215-220.
- [85] Kern, P.S., Gerberick, G.F., Ryan, C.A., Kimber, I., Aptula, A., and Basketter, D.A., Local lymph node data for the evaluation of skin sensitization alternatives: A second compilation. *Dermatitis*, 2010, 21(1): 8-32.
- [86] Kimber, I., Dearman, R.J., Basketter, D.A., Ryan, C.A., and Gerberick, G.F., The local lymph node assay: Past, present and future. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2002, 47(6): 315-328.
- [87] OECD, Guidline for the Testing of Chemicals No. 429. Skin Sensitisation: Local Lymph Node Assay. 2002.

- [88] ECETOC, Contact sensitisation: classification of contact allergens according to potency, Technical report No 87 ECETOC, 2003.
- [89] EU, Councile Directive 2003/15/EC, Amending Council Directive 76/768/EEC, on the Approximations of Laws of the Member States Relating to Cosmetic Products, 2003.
- [90] EU, Council Directive 76/768/EEC on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to cosmetic products, 1976.
- [91] Aeby, P., Wyss, C., Beck, H., Griem, P., Scheffler, H., and Goebel, G., Characterization of the sensitizing potential of chemicals by in vitro analysis of dendritic cell activation and skin penetration. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2004, 122(5): 1154-1164.
- [92] Python, F., Goebel, C., and Aeby, P., Assessment of the U937 cell line for the detection of contact allergens. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 2007, 220(2): 113-124.
- [93] Gerberick, G.F., Vassallo, J.D., Foertsch, L.M., Price, B.B., Chaney, J.G., and Lepoittevin, J.P., Quantification of chemical peptide reactivity for screening contact allergens: A classification tree model approach. *Toxicological Sciences*, 2007, 97(2): 417-427.
- [94] Natsch, A. and Gfeller, H., LC-MS-based characterization of the peptide reactivity of chemicals to improve the in vitro prediction of the skin sensitization potential. *Toxicological Sciences*, 2008, 106(2): 464-478.
- [95] Roberts, D.W. and Aptula, A.O., Determinants of skin sensitisation potential. *Journal* of *Applied Toxicology*, 2008, 28(3): 377-387.
- [96] Roberts, D.W., Aptula, A.O., and Patlewicz, G., Mechanistic applicability domains for non-animal based prediction of toxicological endpoints. QSAR analysis of the Schiff base applicability domain for skin sensitization. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2006, 19(9): 1228-1233.
- [97] Aeby, P., Ashikaga, T., Bessou-Touya, S., Schepky, A., Gerberick, F., Kern, P., Marrec-Fairley, M., Maxwell, G., Ovigne, J.M., Sakaguchi, H., Reisinger, K., Tailhardat, M., Martinozzi-Teissier, S., and Winkler, P., Identifying and characterizing chemical skin sensitizers without animal testing: Colipa's research and method development program. *Toxicology in Vitro*, 2010, 24(6): 1465-1473.
- [98] Felter, S.P., Robinson, M.K., Basketter, D.A., and Frank Gerberick, G., A review of the scientific basis for uncertainty factors for use in quantitative risk assessment for the induction of allergic contact dermatitis. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2002, 47(5): 257-266.
- [99] Hayden, C.G.J., Cross, S.E., Anderson, C., Saunders, N.A., and Roberts, M.S., Sunscreen penetration of human skin and related keratinocyte toxicity after topical application. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, 2005, 18(4): 170-174.
- [100] Hayden, C.G.J., Roberts, M.S., and Benson, H.A.E., Systemic absorption of sunscreen after topical application [4]. *Lancet*, 1997, 350(9081): 863-864.
- [101] Zhai, H. and Maibach, H.I., Effect of barrier creams: Human skin in vivo. *Contact Dermatitis*, 1996, 35(2): 92-96.
- [102] Ericson, M.B., Spectroscopic measurements and Fluorescence Imaging for Treatment and Diagnosis of Skin Cancer, Doctoral Thesis, 2004, Chalmers University of Technology and University of Gothenburg
- [103] Kaur, I.P. and Kakkar, S., Topical delivery of antifungal agents. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery*, 2010, 7(11): 1303-1327.
- [104] Sawynok, J., Topical and peripherally acting analgesics. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 2003, 55(1): 1-20.

- [105] Prausnitz, M.R., Mitragotri, S., and Langer, R., Current status and future potential of transdermal drug delivery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 2004, 3(2): 115-124.
- [106] Leyden, J.J., Topical treatment of acne vulgaris: Retinoids and cutaneous irritation. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 1998, 38(4): S1-S4.
- [107] Hadgraft, J., Skin, the final frontier. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 2001, 224(1-2): 1-18.
- [108] Zatz, J.L., Scratching the surface: Rationale and Approaches to Skin Permeation, in: Skin permeation : fundamentals and application, Zatz, J.L., Allured, Wheaton, Ill., 1993, 11-31.
- [109] Suhonen, T.M., Bouwstra, J.A., and Urtti, A., Chemical enhancement of percutaneous absorption in relation to stratum corneum structural alterations. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 1999, 59(2): 149-161.
- [110] Magnusson, B.M., Anissimov, Y.G., Cross, S.E., and Roberts, M.S., Molecular size as the main determinant of solute maximum flux across the skin. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2004, 122(4): 993-999.
- [111] Berard, F., Marty, J.P., and Nicolas, J.F., Allergen penetration through the skin. *European Journal of Dermatology*, 2003, 13(4): 324-330.
- [112] Potts, R.O. and Guy, R.H., A predictive algorithm for skin permeability: The effects of molecular size and hydrogen bond activity. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 1995, 12(11): 1628-1633.
- [113] Pugh, W.J., Degim, I.T., and Hadgraft, J., Epidermal permeability-penetrant structure relationships: 4, QSAR of permeant diffusion across human stratum corneum in terms of molecular weight, H-bonding and electronic charge. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 2000, 197(1-2): 203-211.
- [114] Smith, C.K. and Hotchkiss, S.A.M., Skin absorption of chemical allergens. In Allergic contact dermatitis : chemical and metabolic mechanisms. Taylor & Francis, London, 2001.
- [115] Riviere, J.E., Biological Factors in Absorption and Permeation, in: Skin permeation: fundamentals and application, Zatz, J.L., Allured, Wheaton, 1993, 113-125.
- [116] Rieger, M., Factors Affecting the Sorption of Topically Applied Compounds, in: Skin permeation: fundamentals and application, Zatz, J.L., Allured, Wheaton, 1993, 33-72.
- [117] Bouwstra, J.A., Honeywell-Nguyen, P.L., Gooris, G.S., and Ponec, M., Structure of the skin barrier and its modulation by vesicular formulations. *Progress in Lipid Research*, 2003, 42(1): 1-36.
- [118] Bender, J., Lipid Based Formulations for Topical Application: -Characterizationand Delivery of Active Substances, Doctoral Thesis, 2007, Chalmers University of Technology
- [119] Smith, E.W. and Maibach, H.I., Percutaneous Penetration Enhancers. 2nd ed., CRC/Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, 2006.
- [120] Naik, A., Pechtold, L.A.R.M., Potts, R.O., and Guy, R.H., Mechanism of oleic acidinduced skin penetration enhancement in vivo in humans. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 1995, 37(3): 299-306.
- [121] Tanner, T. and Marks, R., Delivering drugs by the transdermal route: Review and comment. *Skin Research and Technology*, 2008, 14(3): 249-260.
- [122] Cleary, G.W., Transdermal Drug Delivery, in: Skin permeation: fundamentals and application, Zatz, J.L., Allured, Wheaton, 1993, 207-237.
- [123] Abla, N., Naik, A., Guy, R.H., and Kalia, Y.N., Topical iontophoresis of valaciclovir hydrochloride improves cutaneous aciclovir delivery. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 2006, 23(8): 1842-1849.

- [124] Kalia, Y.N., Naik, A., Garrison, J., and Guy, R.H., Iontophoretic drug delivery. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 2004, 56(5): 619-658.
- [125] Donnelly, R.F., Morrow, D.I.J., McCarron, P.A., Woolfson, A.D., Morrissey, A., Juzenas, P., Juzeniene, A., Iani, V., McCarthy, H.O., and Moan, J., Microneedlemediated intradermal delivery of 5-aminolevulinic acid: Potential for enhanced topical photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2008, 129(3): 154-162.
- [126] Holmber, K., Jönsson, B., Kronberg, B., and Lindman, B., Surfactants and Polymers in Aqueous Solution. John Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, 2003.
- [127] Shah, J.C., Sadhale, Y., and Chilukuri, D.M., Cubic phase gels as drug delivery systems. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 2001, 47(2-3): 229-250.
- [128] Bender, J., Ericson, M.B., Merclin, N., Iani, V., Rosén, A., Engström, S., and Moan, J., Lipid cubic phases for improved topical drug delivery in photodynamic therapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2005, 106(3): 350-360.
- [129] Kulkarni, V.S., Liposomes in Cosmetics: An overview of Production, Characterization and Application, in: The chemistry and manufacture of cosmetics. Vol. 3, Ingredients. Book 2, Schlossman, M.L., Allured, Carol Stream, 2002, 575-596.
- [130] Bangham, A.D., Standish, M.M., and Watkins, J.C., Diffusion of univalent ions across the lamellae of swollen phospholipids. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 1965, 13(1): 238-252.
- [131] Mezei, M. and Gulasekharam, V., Liposomes a selective drug delivery system for the topical route of administration. I. Lotion dosage form. *Life Sciences*, 1980, 26(18): 1473-1477.
- [132] Masini, V., Bonte, F., Meybeck, A., and Wepierre, J., Cutaneous bioavailability in hairless rats of tretinoin in liposomes or gel. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 1993, 82(1): 17-21.
- [133] Bernard, E., Dubois, J.L., and Wepierre, J., Percutaneous absorption of a new antiandrogen included in liposomes or in solution. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 1995, 126(1-2): 235-243.
- [134] Fresta, M. and Puglisi, G., Application of liposomes as potential cutaneous drug delivery systems. In vitro and in vivo investigation with radioactively labelled vesicles. *Journal of Drug Targeting*, 1996, 4(2): 95-101.
- [135] Kim, M.K., Chung, S.J., Lee, M.H., Cho, A.R., and Shim, C.K., Targeted and sustained delivery of hydrocortisone to normal and stratum corneum-removed skin without enhanced skin absorption using a liposome gel. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 1997, 46(3): 243-251.
- [136] Ferreira, L.S., Ramaldes, G.A., Nunan, E.A., and Ferreira, L.A.M., In Vitro Skin Permeation and Retention of Paromomycin from Liposomes for Topical Treatment of the Cutaneous Leishmaniasis. *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy*, 2004, 30(3): 289-296.
- [137] Sinico, C., Manconi, M., Peppi, M., Lai, F., Valenti, D., and Fadda, A.M., Liposomes as carriers for dermal delivery of tretinoin: In vitro evaluation of drug permeation and vesicle-skin interaction. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2005, 103(1): 123-136.
- [138] Fiume, M.Z., Final report on the safety assessment of Lecithin and Hydrogenated Lecithin. *International Journal of Toxicology*, 2001, 20(SUPPL. 1): 21-45.
- [139] Touitou, E., Dayan, N., Bergelson, L., Godin, B., and Eliaz, M., Ethosomes Novel vesicular carriers for enhanced delivery: Characterization and skin penetration properties. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2000, 65(3): 403-418.
- [140] Hope, M.J., Bally, M.B., Webb, G., and Cullis, P.R., Production of large unilamellar vesicles by a rapid extrusion procedure. Characterization of size distribution, trapped

volume and ability to maintain a membrane potential. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Biomembranes*, 1985, 812(1): 55-65.

- [141] New, R.R.C., Liposomes : a practical approach. IRL at Oxford University Press, 1990.
- [142] Benfeldt, E. and Serup, J., Effect of barrier perturbation on cutaneous penetration of salicylic acid in hairless rats: In vivo pharmacokinetics using microdialysis and noninvasive quantification of barrier function. *Archives of Dermatological Research*, 1999, 291(9): 517-526.
- [143] Herkenne, C., Alberti, I., Naik, A., Kalia, Y.N., Mathy, F.X., Pre?at, V., and Guy, R.H., In vivo methods for the assessment of topical drug bioavailability. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 2008, 25(1): 87-103.
- [144] Hui, X., Hewitt, P.G., Poblete, N., Maibach, H.I., Shainhouse, J.Z., and Wester, R.C., In vivo bioavailability and metabolism of topical diclofenac lotion in human volunteers. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 1998, 15(10): 1589-1595.
- [145] Otberg, N., Patzelt, A., Rasulev, U., Hagemeister, T., Linscheid, M., Sinkgraven, R., Sterry, W., and Lademann, J., The role of hair follicles in the percutaneous absorption of caffeine. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 2008, 65(4): 488-492.
- [146] Bronaugh, R.L., Methods for In Vitro Percutaneous Absorption, in: Dermatotoxicology, Zhai, H. and Maibach, H.I., CRC Press, Boca Raton ; London, 2004, 519-529.
- [147] Luengo, J., Weiss, B., Schneider, M., Ehlers, A., Stracke, F., König, K., Kostka, K.H., Lehr, C.M., and Schaefer, U.F., Influence of nanoencapsulation on human skin transport of flufenamic acid. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, 2006, 19(4): 190-197.
- [148] Norlen, L., Nanostructure of the stratum corneum extracellular lipid matrix as observed by cryo-electron microscopy of vitreous skin sections, 2007. p. 335-352.
- [149] Van Den Bergh, B.A.I., Vroom, J., Gerritsen, H., Junginger, H.E., and Bouwstra, J.A., Interactions of elastic and rigid vesicles with human skin in vitro: Electron microscopy and two-photon excitation microscopy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -Biomembranes*, 1999, 1461(1): 155-173.
- [150] Honeywell-Nguyen, P.L. and Bouwstra, J.A., Vesicles as a tool for transdermal and dermal delivery. *Drug Discovery Today: Technologies*, 2005, 2(1): 67-74.
- [151] Pawley, J.B., Handbook of biological confocal microscopy. 3rd ed. ed., Springer, New York, 2006.
- [152] Miller, M.J., Wei, S.H., Parker, I., and Cahalan, M.D., Two-photon imaging of lymphocyte motility and antigen response in intact lymph node. *Science*, 2002, 296(5574): 1869-1873.
- [153] Lindquist, R.L., Shakhar, G., Dudziak, D., Wardemann, H., Eisenreich, T., Dustin, M.L., and Nussenzweig, M.C., Visualizing dendritic cell networks in vivo. *Nature Immunology*, 2004, 5(12): 1243-1250.
- [154] Mempel, T.R., Henrickson, S.E., and Von Andrian, U.H., T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. *Nature*, 2004, 427(6970): 154-159.
- [155] Kleinfeld, D., Mitra, P.P., Helmchen, F., and Denk, W., Fluctuations and stimulusinduced changes in blood flow observed in individual capillaries in layers 2 through 4 of rat neocortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 1998, 95(26): 15741-15746.
- [156] Kissenpfennig, A., Henri, S., Dubois, B., Laplace-Builhé, C., Perrin, P., Romani, N., Tripp, C.H., Douillard, P., Leserman, L., Kaiserlian, D., Saeland, S., Davoust, J., and Malissen, B., Dynamics and function of langerhans cells in vivo: Dermal dendritic

cells colonize lymph node areasdistinct from slower migrating langerhans cells. *Immunity*, 2005, 22(5): 643-654.

- [157] Yu, B., Dong, C.Y., So, P.T.C., Blankschtein, D., and Langer, R., In vitro visualization and quantification of oleic acid induced changes in transdermal transport using two-photon fluorescence microscopy. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2001, 117(1): 16-25.
- [158] Yu, B., Kim, K.H., So, P.T.C., Blankschtein, D., and Langer, R., Visualization of oleic acid-induced transdermal diffusion pathways using two-photon fluorescence microscopy. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2003, 120(3): 448-455.
- [159] Stracke, F., Weiss, B., Lehr, C.M., König, K., Schaefer, U.F., and Schneider, M., Multiphoton microscopy for the investigation of dermal penetration of nanoparticleborne drugs. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2006, 126(10): 2224-2233.
- [160] Paoli, J., Smedh, M., Wennberg, A.M., and Ericson, M.B., Multiphoton laser scanning microscopy on non-melanoma skin cancer: Morphologic features for future non-invasive diagnostics. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2008, 128(5): 1248-1255.
- [161] Göppert-Mayer, M., Über Elementarakte mit zwei Quantensprüngen. Annalen der *Physik*, 1931, 401(3): 273-294.
- [162] Kaiser, W. and Garrett, C.G.B., Two-photon excitation in CaF2: Eu2+. *Physical Review Letters*, 1961, 7(6): 229-231.
- [163] Denk, W., Strickler, J.H., and Webb, W.W., Two-photon laser scanning fluorescence microscopy. *Science*, 1990, 248(4951): 73-76.
- [164] Denk, W. and Svoboda, K., Photon upmanship: Why multiphoton imaging is more than a gimmick. *Neuron*, 1997, 18(3): 351-357.
- [165] Zipfel, W.R., Williams, R.M., and Webb, W.W., Nonlinear magic: Multiphoton microscopy in the biosciences. *Nature Biotechnology*, 2003, 21(11): 1369-1377.
- [166] Diaspro, A., Bianchini, P., Vicidomini, G., Faretta, M., Ramoino, P., and Usai, C., Multi-photon excitation microscopy. *BioMedical Engineering Online*, 2006, 5(36): 1-14.
- [167] Cahalan, M.D., Parker, I., Wei, S.H., and Miller, M.J., Two-photon tissue imaging: Seeing the immune system in a fresh light. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 2002, 2(11): 872-880.
- [168] Diaspro, A. and Sheppard, C.J.R., Two-Photon Excitation Fluorescence Microscopy, in: Confocal and two-photon microscopy: foundations, applications, and advances, Diaspro, A., Wiley-Liss, New York, 2002, 39-73.
- [169] Xu, C., Zipfel, W., Shear, J.B., Williams, R.M., and Webb, W.W., Multiphoton fluorescence excitation: New spectral windows for biological nonlinear microscopy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 1996, 93(20): 10763-10768.
- [170] Xu, C., Williams, R.M., Zipfel, W., and Webb, W.W., Multiphoton excitation crosssections of molecular fluorophores. *Bioimaging*, 1996, 4(3): 198-207.
- [171] Zipfel, W.R., Williams, R.M., Christiet, R., Nikitin, A.Y., Hyman, B.T., and Webb, W.W., Live tissue intrinsic emission microscopy using multiphoton-excited native fluorescence and second harmonic generation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 2003, 100(12): 7075-7080.
- [172] Cevc, G., Scha?tzlein, A.G., Richardsen, H., and Vierl, U., Overcoming semipermeable barriers, such as the skin, with ultradeformable mixed lipid vesicles, transfersomes, liposomes, or mixed lipid micelles. *Langmuir*, 2003, 19(26): 10753-10763.

- [173] Madsen, J.T., Vogel, S., Karlberg, A.-T., Simonsson, C., Johansen, J.D., and Andersen, K.E., Ethosome formulation of contact allergens may enhance patch test reactions in patients. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2010, 63(4): 209-214.
- [174] Madsen, J.T., Vogel, S., Karlberg, A.T., Simonsson, C., Johansen, J.D., and Andersen, K.E., Ethosome formulations of known contact allergens can increase their sensitizing capacity. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 2010, 90(4): 374-8.
- [175] Rawlings, A.V. and Harding, C.R., Moisturization and skin barrier function. *Dermatologic Therapy*, 2004, 17(1): 43-48.
- [176] Sylvestre, J.P., Bouissou, C.C., Guy, R.H., and Delgado-Charro, M.B., Extraction and quantification of amino acids in human stratum corneum in vivo. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 2010, 163(3): 458-465.
- [177] Jensen, U.B., Lowell, S., and Watt, F.M., The spatial relationship between stem cells and their progeny in the basal layer of human epidermis: A new view based on wholemount labelling and lineage analysis. *Development*, 1999, 126(11): 2409-2418.
- [178] Lowell, S., Jones, P., Le Roux, I., Dunne, J., and Watt, F.M., Stimulation of human epidermal differentiation by Delta-Notch signalling at the boundaries of stem-cell clusters. *Current Biology*, 2000, 10(9): 491-500.
- [179] Dearman, R.J., Cumberbatch, M., Hilton, J., Clowes, H.M., Fielding, I., Heylings, J.R., and Kimber, I., Influence of dibutyl phthalate on dermal sensitization to fluorescein isothiocyanate. *Fundamental and Applied Toxicology*, 1996, 33(1): 24-30.
- [180] Imai, Y., Kondo, A., Iizuka, H., Maruyama, T., and Kurohane, K.K., Effects of phthalate esters on the sensitization phase of contact hypersensitivity induced by fluorescein isothiocyanate. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 2006, 36(11): 1462-1468.
- [181] Matsuda, T., Maruyama, T., Iizuka, H., Kondo, A., Tamai, T., Kurohane, K., and Imai, Y., Phthalate esters reveal skin-sensitizing activity of phenethyl isothiocyanate in mice. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 2010, 48(6): 1704-1708.
- [182] Lademann, J., Knorr, F., Richter, H., Blume-Peytavi, U., Vogt, A., Antoniou, C., Sterry, W., and Patzelt, A., Hair follicles - An efficient storage and penetration pathway for topically applied substances: Summary of recent results obtained at the Center of Experimental and Applied Cutaneous Physiology, Charité -Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany. *Skin Pharmacology and Physiology*, 2008, 21(3): 150-155.
- [183] Lauer, A.C., Ramachandran, C., Lieb, L.M., Niemiec, S., and Weiner, N.D., Targeted delivery to the pilosebaceous unit via liposomes. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 1996, 18(3): 311-324.
- [184] Saint-Mezard, P., Krasteva, M., Chavagnac, C., Bosset, S., Akiba, H., Kehren, J., Kanitakis, J., Kaiserlian, D., Nicolas, J.F., and Berard, F., Afferent and efferent phases of allergic contact dermatitis (ACD) can be induced after a single skin contact with haptens: Evidence using a mouse model of primary ACD. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 2003, 120(4): 641-647.
- [185] Basketter, D.A., Jefferies, D., Safford, B.J., Gilmour, N.J., Jowsey, I.R., McFadden, J., Chansinghakul, W., Duangdeeden, I., and Kullavanijaya, P., The impact of exposure variables on the induction of skin sensitization. *Contact Dermatitis*, 2006, 55(3): 178-185.
- [186] Gawkrodger, D.J., Haftek, M., Botham, P.A., Carr, M.M., Spencer, M.J., Ross, J.A., Hunter, J.A.A., and Thivolet, J., The hapten in contact hypersensitivity to dinitrochlorobenzene: Immunoelectron microscopic and immunofluorescent studies (with 1 color plate). *Dermatologica*, 1989, 178(3): 126-130.

- [187] Bauer, B., Andersson, S.I., Stenfeldt, A.L., Simonsson, C., Bergström, J., Ericson, M.B., Jonsson, C.A., and Broo, K.S., Modification and expulsion of keratins by human epidermal keratinocytes upon hapten exposure in vitro. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 2011, 24(5): 737-743.
- [188] Andersson, S., Contact Sensitizers Induce Keratinocytes to Release Epitopes Tools for In Vitro Tests and Implications for Autoimmunity, Doctoral Thesis, 2011, University of Gothenburg
- [189] Guldbrand, S., Simonsson, C., Gokser, M., Smedh, M., and Ericson, M.B., Twophoton fluorescence correlation microscopy combined with measurements of point spread function; investigations made in human skin. *Optics Express*, 2010, 18(15): 15289-15302.